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HRPT Properties Trust

HRPT Properties Trust is a real estate investment trust, or REIT, which primarily owns office buildings
located throughout the United States. HRPT has a large concentration of properties leased to the US.
Government and medical related tenants. HRPT also owns approximately 18 million square feet of leased
commercial and industrial lands located in Oahu, Hawaii. As of December 31, 2006, HRPT owned $5.8 billion
of office and industrial properties with approximately 60 million square feet located in 34 states and
Washington, D.C.

Since its IPO in 1986 through December 31, 2006, HRPT has provided shareholders with average total
annual returns of 12.2%, HRPT has been investment grade rated since 1994 and is included in a number of
financial indices, including the Russell 1000°, the MSCI US-REIT Index, S&P REIT Composite Index and the
FTSE NAREIT Composite Index.

HRP

NYSE

The graph helow shows the cumulative total shareholder returns on our common shares (assuming a 3100 invesiment on December 31, 2001)
for the past five years as compared with (a) the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts Inc’s. or NAREIT, index of all tax
qualified real estate investment trusts listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange and the Nasdaq Stock
Market, and [b) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index. The graph assumes reinvestment of all cash distributions.
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The amended and restated declaration of trust establishing HRPT, a copy of which, together with all amendments and supplements
thereto, is filed in the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland, provides that the name "HRPT Properties Trust™ refers
to the trustees under that declaration of trust as trustees, but not individually or personally, and that no trustee, officer, shareholder.
employee or agemt of HRPT shall be held to.any personal liability jointly or severally for any obligation of, or claim against, HRPT.
All persons dealing with HRPT, in any way, shall look only to the assets of HRPT for the payment of any sum or the performance
of any obligation.




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - . S
{amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
INCOME STATEMENT DATA"™: ‘
Year Ended December 31,
2006 ) 2005 | 2004 2003 2002
Total revenues $ 795,821 $ 708,841 $ 599,635 § 498,315 $ 412,157
Income from continuing operations 247,756 156,716 160,917 115,674 106,135
Net income® ) . 250,580 164,984 - 162,829 114,446 106,763
Net income available for common shareholders™ 198,974 118,984 116,829 68,446 79,138
Calculation of funds from operations, or FFO": . , :
Net income 250,580 164,984 162,829 114,446 106,763
Depreciation and amortization 159,957 136,483 112,380 93,273 68,750
Loss on early extinguishment of debt:
Add: amount included in total expenses 1,659 168 . 2,866 3,238 3,504
Less: portion settled in cash : - (168) - - {3,377)
Gain on sale of properties [(2,917)- (7,592) . - - . —
Gain on sale of equity investments . (116,287) {5,522) {21,550) - -
(Gain) loss on issuance of shares by equity investees - {6.241) (8,436) - 1,421
Equity .in earnings of equity investments- | (3,136) (14,352) {15,457) - {23,525) (19,261)
FFO from equity investments 6,426 27.314 28,573 32,826 34,657
FFO o . 296,282 295,074 +. 261,205 220,258 192,457
Preferred distributions . - (44,692) (46,000) {46,000} . {46,000) (27,625)
.FFOQ available for common shareho]ders ' 251,590 249,074 215,205 174,258 164,832
Common distributions declared 176,410 172,065 147,156 118,348 103,056
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 209,965 197,831 176,157 136,270 128,817
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted 216,524 - 197,831 176,157 . 136,270 128,817
.PER COMMON SHARE:
Income from continuing operations available " .
for common shareholders - basic and diluted $ 093 $ 0.56 $ 065 % 0.51 $ 0.61
Net income available for common shareholders - basic” 0.95 0.60 0.66 - *0.50 Q.61
Net income available for common shareholders - diluted® 0.94 0.60 0.66 0.50 0.61
FFO available for common shareholders - basic ' 1.20 1.26 1.22 . 1.28 1.28
FFO available for common shareholders - diluted - 1.19 1.26 . 1.22 1.28 1.28
Common distributions declared .o 0.84 084 . 0.83 v 080 - 0.80
BALANCE SHEET DATA'™:

December 31,

2006 2005 I 2004 2003 2002
Real estate properties™ $5,762,273 $5224,574  $ 4,659,098  § 3,874,321 $ 3,057,330
Equity investments - 194,297 207,804 260,208 264,087
Total assets . 5,575,949 . 5,327,167 4,813,330 4,013,244 3,221,652
Total indebtedness, net 2,397,231 2,520,156 2,355,031 1,876,821 1,215,977
Total shareholders’ equity ] . 2,950,768 2,645,486 2,307,194 2,011,651 1,926,273

{1} Reclassifications have been made to the prior years' financial statements 1o conform fo the current year's presentation. )

{2} Changes in net income include income from property acquisitions during all periods presented; gains of 3”6.Jlmiﬂion recognized in 2006 from the sale of all 7.7
million Senior Housing Properties Trust, or Senior Housing, common shares and 4.0 million Hospitality Propchics Trust, or Hospitality Properties, common shares
we ouned; gains of $11.8 million recognized in 2005 from equity transactions of equity investments and the sale of 950,000 of our Senior Housing common shares
and gains of $320.0 million recognized in 2004 from equity transactions of equity investments and the sale of 4.1 miltion of our Senior Housing common shares.

{3} Net income available for common shareholders is net income reduced by preferred distributions and the excess redemptian price paid over the carrying value of preferved shares.

{4} We compute FFO, FFO available for common sharekolders and diluted FFO available for common shareholders a‘s shotwn above. Our calculation of FFO differs from
the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, definition because we add loss on can'y ertinguishment of debt uniess sertled in cash. We
consider FFO to be an appropriate measure of performance for a REIT, along with net income and cash ﬂawﬁ'am operating, investing and financing activities, We
believe that FFO provides uscful information to investors because by excluding the cffects of certain historical amounts, such as depreciation erpense and gains or
losses on sales of properties, FFO can facilitate a comparison of current operating performances among REITs. FFO does not represent cosh generated by operating
activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, and should not be considered an alternative to net income or cash flow from operating
activities as @ measure of financial performance or liguidity. FFO is one important factor considered by our Board of Trustees in determining the amount of distributions
ta sharcholders, Other important factors include, but are not limited to, requirements to maintain our status as a REIT, timitations in our revolving credit facility and
public debt covenants, the availability of debt and equity capital to us and our expectations of future caplmi' requirements and operating performance.

{5} Ercludes value of acquired real estate leases. -




HRPT PROPERTIES TRUST : 7 o : o

President’s Letter to Shareholders B _ i .

DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

Shareholders who owned our shares throughout 2006 realized total returns, dividends plus share price appreciation of 30.7%. Since we became a publicly
owned company in 1986, our total return o shareholders, dividends and price changes, has averaged 12.2% per year. This 20 year record is the result
of a consistent focus on business fundamentals, which we continued in 2006: :

. Dunng 2006, we signed new leases for 2.3 mllhon square-feet and lease renewals for 3.7 million square feet.

. The average rents achreved on new leases and lease renewals sngned in 2006 was 5% above the average rents previously charged for th1s same space.
* Qur average lease term for new leases and lease renewals was 7.8 years.

¢ At December 31, 2006, our properties were 93.1% occupied.

During 2006 we took advantage of favorable stock market conditions to sell all our retained shares in our former subsndxanes, Semor Housing Properties Trust
and Hospitality Properties Trust. These sales produced net proceeds of $308.3 million and gains of $116.3 million. . . -

We sold ﬁve buﬂdmgs during 2006 which no longer met our criteria for long term investment holdings, and we realized $2.9 rmllmn of gains on those sales.
l

We were active in the capital markets dunng 2006. We 1ssued $150 million of 7.125% Series C preferred shares, $379.5 million of 6.5% Series D

convertible preferred shares and $400 million of floating rate senior notes due 201i. The proceeds of- these offerings were used to redeem $200

million' of 5.875% Series A preferred shares, to prepay $350 million of outstanding floating rate term notes and to repay amounts outstanding under

our revelving credit facility.

The property acquisition market in 2006 was very competitive, especially in certain larger urban areas. Nonetheless, by carefully studying a very large
number of investment opportunities, we were able to identify investments which we believe will produce consistent long term value for our company.
We purchased 64 office and industrial properties totaling 4.9 million square feet for total consideration of $456.8 million.

During 2006, our funds from operations, or FFQ, was $1.19/share. This amount excludes the $0.57/share capital gains we realized from sales of shares
in our former subsidiaries and property sales. The current common share dividend of $0.21 lsharc pcr quarter ($0.84/share per year) rcpresents only
about 70% of our 2006 FFO per share.

In 2007 we intend to continue to run our business with a focus on achieving dependable current income and-maintaining the long term value of our
assets. We will seek to maintain high occupancies with relatively long term leases. We will regularly maintain our properties, as we believe a large
majority of current maintenance expenses improves the long term value of our.assets. We will continuously review our portfolio to identify properties
which no longer meet our long term investment criteria and we will continue to explore investment opportunities that meet these same criteria.

On behalf of our trustées and officers, | thank you for your continued support,

Sincerely,

| J%A. Mo

v " John A, Mannix
President
April t9, 2007




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in
this annual report.

OVERVIEW

We primarily own office and tndustrial buildings located throughout the
United States. We also own approximately 18 million square feet of
leased industrial and commercial lands located in Qahu, Hawaii.

Property Operations

As of December 31, 2006, 93.1% of our total square feet was leased,
compared to 94.3% leased as of December 31, 2005. These results reflect
a 1.2 percentage point decrease in occupancy at properties we owned
continuously since January 1, 2005. Occupancy data for 2006 and 2005
is as follows (square feet in thousands):

Comparable
All Properties” Properties®
As of the Year Ended As of the Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2006 - 2005 2006 2005
Total properties 504 437 367 367
Total square feet 59,865 - 54,933 43,759 43,759
93.29 94.4%

Percent leased™ 93.160 94.3%

{1} Exeludes properties sold or under contract for sale,
{2) Based on properties owned continuously since Jnnuary 1, 2005, and excludes
properties under contract for sale.

{2) Percent lcased includes (i} space being dﬁned out for occupancy
pursuant to signed leases and (ii) space which is ftued but is not accup:cd or”
is being offered for sublease by tenants.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we signed new-leases for 2.3
million square feet and léase renewals for 3.7 millibf square feet, at
weighted average rental rates that were 5% above rents previously
charged for the same space. Average lease terms for leases signed during
2006 were 7.8 years. Commitments for tenant improvement and leasing
costs for leases signed dunng 2006 totaled $82.1 million, or $13.64 per
square foot {approxnmately $1.75/sq. ft. per year of the lease term).

During the past twelve months the leasing market conditions in some
of our markets have been merovmg The quoted rental rates in most of
the areas where our propemes are located seem to have increased
modestly. Required landlord funded tenant build outs and leasing
commissions payable to tenant brokers for new leases and lease
renewals have generally stablhzed or declined modestly over the past
twelve months. These bulld out costs and leasing commissions are
generally amortized as a reductlon of our income during the terms of
the affected leases. However, these "improvements in rent rates and
reduced tenant inducement costs have been somewhat offset by a modest
decline in space requlrements in certain markets, as reflected in the
slight decline in occupancy we have experienced during this period. We
believe that modest increases in effective rents will improve the financial
results at some of our currlently owned properties, however, there are
too many variables for us: to reasonably project what the financial
impact of market conditions will be on our results for future periods.

Approximately 16.2% of our leased square feet and 19.7% of our rents are included in leases scheduled to expire through December 31, 2008. Lease
. renewals and rental rates at which available space may be relet in the future will depend on prevailing market conditions at that time. Lease expirations

by year, as of December 31, 2006, are as follows [square feet and dollars in thousands):

Cumulative

% of % of
% of Annualized Annualized Annualized
Square Feet Square Feet Rental I‘ncome Rental Income  Rental Income
Year Expiring" Expiring - Expiring® Expiring Expiring
2007 4,373 7.8% $ . BO,!::IZ 3.80%0 9.8%
2008 4,661 8.4% 81,8.08 9.500 19.7%
2008 3,818 6.9% ’ 68,737 8.4% 28.1%
2010 5,673 10.2% 96,!::»10 11.7% 39.8%
2011 5,370 9.6% 94,260 11.500 51.3%
2012 4,053 7.3% 79,591 9.7% 61.0%
2013 2,328 4,200 42, 705 5.200 66.20
2014 2,540 4,6% 43, 551 5.3% 71.5%
2015 2,560 4.6% 54.QS1 6.6% 78.1%
2016 ’ 1,964 3.500 34, 1!41 4.10% 82.2%
2017 and thereafter 18,379 32.9% 147,020 17.8% 100.0%
’ 55,719 100.0% $ 823,196 100.0%
Weighted average ‘
remaining lease term (in years): 9.3 _ -
|

{1} Square feet is pursuant to signed lcases as of December 31, 2006, and includes {i} space being fitted out for occupancy
* and (i} space which is leased, but is not occupied or is being offered for sublense by tenants.
{2} Rents are pursuant to signed leases as of December 31, 2006, plus erpense reimbursements; includes some triple net

lease rents and excludes lease value amortization and rents from properties classified in discontinued operations.




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 71 7 -5 s =ep o 0 0 Ti -

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations L

Our principal source of funds for our operations is rents from tenants at our properties. Rents are generally received from our non-government tenants
monthly in advance, and from our government tenants monthly in arrears. As of December 31, 2006, tenants responsible for 1% or moere of our total
rent were as follows (square feet in thousands):

% of Total

Tenant : ' Square Feet” Square Feet” - 9% of Rent® - Expiration
1. U.S. Government 4,932 8.9% 13.2% 2007 to 2020
2. GlaxeSmithKline plc '608 1.1% 1.8% 2013
3. PNC Financial Services Group 460 0.8% 1.4% 2011, 2021
4, Comcast Corporation 400 0.7% 1.2% 2007, 2008
5. Solectron Corporation . 765 1.4% L1% 2014
6. The Scripps Research Institute : . 164 0.3% L1% 2019
7. JDA Software Group, Inc. ) ) . v 283 - 0.5% 1.1% 2012
8. Ballard Spahr Andrews . : . .

& Ingersoli, LLP 231 0.4% 1.0% 2008, 2015
9. Tyco International Ltd . 660 1.2% 1.0% 2007, 2017

8,503 -l =

Total : i 15.3% . 22.9%
{1) Square feet is pursuant to signed leases as of December 31, 2006, and includes (i} space being fitted out for eccupancy and

{ii) space which is leased, but is not occupied or is being offered for sublease by tenants. [ .
{2) Rent is pursuant to signed leases as of December 31, 2006, plus estimated erpense reimbursements; includes some triple net

lease rents and ercludes lease value amortization. Excludes square feet from properties classified in discontinued operations. - '

o .
'

Investment Activities . | i

During 2006, we acquired 64 properties with 4.9 million square feet for
total gross purchase prices totaling $456.8 million, including 49 office
properties with 3.1 million square feet for $340.1 million and 15 industrial
properties with 1.8 million square feet for $116.7 million. At the time of
acquisition, these properties were approximately 93% leased and
projected to yield approximately 9% of the aggregate gross purchase
price, based on estimated annual net operating income, or NOI, which
we define as property rental income less property operating expenses.
During 2006, we soid all- 7.7 million Senior Housing common shares we
owned and all 4.0 million Hospitality Properties common shares we
owned for net proceeds of $308.3 million and gains totaling $116.3 million.

.

Financing Activities

During 2006, we issued 6.0 million shares of our 7 "% series C
cumulative redeemable preferred shares, raising net proceeds of $145.0
million and-15.2 million shares of our 6 "% series D cumulative
convertible preferred shares, raising net proceeds of $368.3 million.

‘We also issued $400 .million of floating rate senior notes due 2011.

Proceeds from these financing activities were used to repay amounts
outstanding under cur revolving credit facility and for general business
purposes, including acquisitions. We also repaid our $350 million floating
rate term loan and we-rédeemed all $200 million of our series A
preferred shares using cash on hand and borrowings under our revolving
credit facility.
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of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations

RESULTS OF OFERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2006, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

Rental income

Expenses:
Operating expenses ™ |
Depfeciation and amortization
General and administrative
Total expenses

Operating income ,

- Y . ‘ N 13
Interest income ) v
Interest expense " e S s
Loss on early extmgu:shmcnt of debt 7 e el
Equity in earnings of equity investments
Gain on sale of equity investments '
Gain on issuance of shares by equity mvestees
Income from continuing operations :
{Loss) income from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of pmpemes : -
Net income
Preferred distributions
Excess redemption price paid over carrying value -

of preferred shares
Net income available for common shareholders

. ¢ L

Weighted average common shares outstanding ~ basic

-

-

Weighted average common shaf;s.qéts_;anding - diluted *
Eammgs per common share
Income from continuing uperatlons avallable
_for commen sharehelders - basic and diluted
Income from discontinued operations - basic and diluted
Net income available for common shareholders - basic
Net income available for common shareholders - diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 | $ Change % Change

' {in thousands, except per share data) ’

‘$ 795821 $ 708841 § 86,980 ©12.3%

310,712 269,563 41,149 : 15.3%

159,826 ' 135,890 23,936 17.6%

32,133 30,446 1,687 5.5%

502,671 435893 | 66,772 - 15.3%

293,150 272,942 20,208 7.4%
2,736 1,490 1,246 83.6%

- {165,894) (143,663) (22,231) - (15.50)
(1,659) (168) (1,491) (887.5%}
3,136 14,352 {11,216) {78.1%)
116,287 5,522 110,765 2005.9%*

- 6,241 (6.241) {100.09%)}

247,756 156,716 91,040 58.1%
(93) 676 {769) (113.8%)

2,917 7,592 {4,675) {61.6%)

250,580 164,984 85,596 51.9%
(44,692) *' (46,000 1,308 2.8% -
{6,914} - - (6,914) (100.0%)-

$ 196974 § 118,984 %I 79,990 67.2%

209,965 197,831 I 12,134 6: 10

216,524 197831 ‘ . 18,693 - 9,45

3 093 .5 056 0.37 £6.1%
$ 001§ 0.04 b1 - {0.03} (75.00)

$ 0.95 0.60 1 0.35 58.30%
3 0.94 060 - $1 0.4 56.7%
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of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Rental income, Rental income increased for the year ended December
31, 2006, compared to the same period in 2005, primarily due to
increases in rental income from our Oahu, HI and Other Markets
segments, offset by the decrease in rental income from our Metro
Philadelphia, PA market, as described in our segment information footnote
to our consolidated financial statements. Rental income for our Oahu,
HI segment increased $9.7 million, or 19%, primarily because of the
acquisition of 44 properties in June 2005, and incref:ascs in weighted

average rental rates for new leases and lease renewals signed during’

2005 and 2006. Rental income for our Other Markets segment increased
$73.5 million, or 24%, primarily because of the acquisition of 93 properties
during 2005 and 2006. Rental income for our Metro Philadelphia, PA
segment decreased $6.3 million, or 53, primarily because of non-recurring
rent recovery income received during. 2005 and a declme in occupancy
during 2006. Rental income includes non-cash stralght line rent
adjustments totaling $25.6 miliion in 2006 and $30 1 million in 2005
and amortization of acquired real estate leases and obllganons totaling
{$10.4) million in 2006 and ($7.4) million in 2005, Rental income also
includes lease termination fees totalmg $608,000 in 2006 and $3.9 million
in 2005. .

Total expenses. Total expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006,
increased from the year ended December 31, 2005, due to increases in
operating expenses, depreciation and amortization and general and
administrative expenses related to our acquisition of properties in 2006
and 2005.

Interest income. Interest income increased for the year ended December

" 31, 2006, compared to the year ended December 31, 2005, reflecting the

increase in average interest rates on invested cash balarices.
'

Interest expense. The increase in interest expense in 2006 reflects an
increase in average total debt outstanding which was used primarily to
finance acquisitions in 2006 ‘and 2005, and the increase in weighted
average interest rates on our floating rate debt from 40% during the
year ended December 31, 2005, to 5.8% during the } year ended December
31, 2006. The weighted average interest rate on all! of our outstanding
debt at December 31, 2006 and 2005, was 6.3% and 5.9%, respectively.

Loss on early extinguishment of debt. The loss on eﬁr]y extinguishment
of debt in 2006 relates to the write off of deferred financing fees
associated with the repayment nf our $350 mllllon term loan in March.

Equity in earnings of equity investments. The decrease in equity in eamnings
of equity investments in 2006 reflects our sale of ail 7.7 million common
shares we owned in Senior Housing and all 4.0 million common shares
we owned in Hospitality Properties in March 2006,

Gain on sale of equity investments. The increase in gain on sale of equity
investments reflects the sale in March 2006 of all of the common shares
we owned in Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties for aggregate
net proceeds of $308.3 million.*

Gain on issuance of shares by equity investees. The 2005.gain on
issuance of shares by eguity investees reflects the issuance of common
shares during 2005 by both Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties
at prices above our per share carrying values.

Income from continuing operations. The increase in income from
continuing operations is due primarily to the sale of our investments in
Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties in 2006 and properties
acquired during 2005 and 2006, offset by an increase in interest’
expense caused by the increase in floating interest rates during 2006.

{Loss} income from discontinued operations. The 2006 loss and 2005
income from discontinued operations includes operating results from

" five office properties sold in 2006 and three industrial properties sold in 2005.

Gain on sale of properties. Net sales proceeds and gains from properties
sold during 2006 were $10.6 million and $2.9 million, respectively. Net
sales proceeds and gains from properties sold during 2005 were $20.1
million and $7.6 million, respectively. . -

Net income and net income available .for common sharcholders.
The increase in net income and net income available for common
shareholders is due primarily to the sale of our investments in Senior
Housing and Hospitality Properties in 2006 and property acquisitions
during 2005 and 2006, offset by an’increase in interest expense caused
by the increase in floating interest rates during-2006. Net income available
for common shareholders is net income reduced by preferred distributions
and the excess of the redemption price paid over the carrying value of
our 9.875% series A preferred shares that we redeemed in March 2006.

Lo




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2005, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Year Endeci December 31,

v

Rental income. Rental income increased for the year ended December
31, 2005, compared to the same pericd in 2004, primarily due to our
acquisition of 70 properties in 2005 and 136 properties in 2004.
Occupancy, which includes space being prepared for occupancy
pursuant to signed leases and space which is being offered for sublease
by tenants, at properties we owned continuously since January 1, 2004,
was 95.2% at December 31, 2005, compared to 93.6% at December 31,
2004, Rental income includes non cash straight line rent adjustments
totaling $30.1 million in 2005 and $22.3 million in 2004 and amontization
of acquired real estate leases and obligations totaling ($7.4) million in
2005 and ($3.0) million in 2004. Rental income also includes lease
termination fees totaling $3.9 million in 2005 and $3.7 million in 2004.

Total erpenses. Total expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005,
increased from the year ended December 31, 2004, due to increases in
operating expenses, depreciation and amortization and general and
administrative expenses reiated to our acquisition of properties in 2005
and 2004.

2005 2004 | $ Change U% Change
(in thousands, except per share data}
Rental income - § 708841 . $ 599,635 -$ 109,206 18.2%
Expenses:
Operating expenses 269,563 226,807 - 42,756 18.9%
Depreciation and amortization 135,890 111,744 24,146 21.6%
General and administrative 30,446 ¢ 25,170 5,276 21.0%
Total expenses 435,899 363,721 . | - 72,178 19.8%
Operating income . 272,942 -»235,914 37,028 . 15.7%
Interest income 1,490 638 852 - '133.5%
Interest expense {143,663) {118,212) {25,451) - {21.5%)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt. {168) (2,866) 2,698 94.1%
Equity in eamings of equity investments . 14,352 15,457 {1,108} . (7.1%)
Gain on sale of equity investments 5,522 21,550 (16,028) {74.4%)
Gain on issuance of shares by equity investees 6,241 8,436 (2,195) . {26.0%)
Income from continuing operations 156,716 160,917 {4,201) {2.6%)
Income from discontinued oper.aiinns 676 - 1,912 {1,236) {64.6%) -
Gain on sale of properties 7,592 — 7,592 100.0%%
Net income . 164,984 162,829 2,155 1.3%
Preferred distributions . (46,000) (46,000) - - —
" Net income available for common shareholders . $ 118,984 $ 116,829 $! 2,155 1.8%
T i . ]
Weighted average common shares outstanding 197,831 176,157 l 21,674 - 12.3%
Basic and diluted eamnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations-available - .
for common shareholders . - . $ 056 % 065 « § _{0.09) (13.8%) - .
Income from discontinued operations $ 004 %5 0.01 31 0.03 300.0%
Net income available for common-shareholders $ 060 § 0.66 S {0.06) {9.1%)
FEL B . b

Interest erpense. Interest €xpense increased for the.year ended
December 31, 2005, compared to the year ended December 31, 2004,
reflecting an increase in totat debt outstanding which was used primarily to
finance acquisitions in 2005 and 2004. In 2005 we issued $250 million
unsecured 5.75% senior notes due 2015 and assumed $25.5 million of
debt in connection with an acqulsmon The weighted average interest
rate on all of our outstanding debt at December 31, 2005 and 2004, was
5.9% and 5.7%, respectively.

Loss on early extinguishment of debt. The loss on early extinguishment
of debt in 2004 represents the write off of deferred financing fees
associated with the repaymcnt of $143 million of our senior notes
due 2013,

Eguity in earnings of equity t"rwesrmems. Equity in eamings of equity
investments decreased during the year ended December 31, 2005, from
the year ended December 31.[2004, due to lower eamnings recognized
from our investment in Senior Housing. The decrease in earnings from
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Senior Housing is due primarily to our sale of 950,000 Senior Housing
common shares we owned in 2005 and the sale of 4.1 million Senior
Housing common shares we owned in 2004. -

. 1
Gain on sale of shares of equity investments. The gain on sale of shares
of equity investments reflects the sale of 950,000 Senior Housing common
shares we owned in 2005 and 4.1 million Senior Housing common
shares we owned in 2004, 1

Gain on issuance of shares by equity investees. The 2005 and 2004 gains
on issuance of shares by equity investees reflects the issuance of common
shares during 2005 and 2004 by both Senior Housir:lg and Hospitality
Properties at prices above our per share carrying values.

Income from continuing operations. The decrease' in income from
continuing operations primarily represents the 2004 gain on sale of
shares of equity investments, offset by income from properties acquired
in 2005 and 2004. . 1

Income from discontinued operations and gain on sale of properties.
Income from discontinued operations in 2005 and 2004 represents
income from three industrial properties we sold in, May 2005 for net
proceeds of $20.1 million, and five office properties we sold in 2006 for
net proceeds of $10.6 million. We recognized gains,on the sales of the
three industrial properties of $7.6 million in 2005.

Net income and net income available for common sharcholders.

The increase in net income and net income available for commen
shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2005, from the year ended
December 31, 2004, is due primarily to property acquisitions in 2005
and 2004 and the gain on sale of properties recognized in 2005, offset
by the gain on sale of Senior Housing common shares in 2004, a
decrease in eamnings from equity investments and an increase in interest
expense from the issuance of additional debt. Net income available for
commeon sharcholders is net income reduced by preferred distributions.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our Operating Liquidity and Resources

Our principal sources of funds for current expenses and distributions to
shareholders "are rents from our properties. This flow of funds has
historically been sufficient for us to pay our operating expenses, debt
service and distributions. We believe that our operating cash flow will
be sufficient to meet our operating expenses, debt service and distribution
payments for the foreseeable future. Gur future cash'flows from operating
activities will depend primarily upon the fo]luwmg factors:

* our ability to maintain or improve occupancies and effective rent
rates at our continucusly owned properties; .

* our ability to restrain operating cost increases at our properties; and

* our ability to purchase new properties which produce positive cash
flows from operations.

As discussed above, we believe that present leasing market conditions in
some areas where our properties are located may result in modest
increases in effective rents at some of our properties. Recent rises in fuel
prices may cause our future operating costs to increase; however, the
impact of these increases is expected to be partially offset by pass through
operating cost increases to our tenants pursuant to lease terms. We
generally do not purchase tumn around properties or properties which do
not generate positive cash flows. Our future purchases of properties which
generate positive cash flows can not be accurately projected hecause such:
purchases depend entirely upon available opportunities which come to
our attention. - : !

Cash flows provided by (used. for) operating, investing and financing
activities were $286.4 million, ($206.4) million and ($81.6) million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2006, and $226.0 million,’
{$530.7) million and $302.3 million, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2005. Changes in all three categories between 2006 and
2005 are primarily related to property acquisitions and sales in 2006 and
2005, our sale of all our Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties common
shares in 2006, our repayments and issuances of debt obligations in 2006
and 2005, our issuances and redemption of preferred shares in 2006 and
our issuance of common shares in 2005.

OQur Investment and Financing Liquidity and Resources
[n order to fund acquisitions and to accommodate cash needs that may

result from timing differences between our receipt of rents and our
desire or need to make distributions or pay operating or capital expenses,

we maintain an unsecured revolving credit facility -with a group of

institutional lenders. At December 31, 2006, there was $40 million
outstanding and $710 milliont available on: our revolving credit facility,
and we had cash and cash equivalents of $17.8 million. We expect to |
use cash balances, borrowings under our credit facility and net proceeds
of offerings of equity or debt securities to fund future property acquisitions.
in August 2006, we amended and extended the maturity of our revolving
credit facility from April 2009 to August 2010, with an option to extend
the facility. an additional year, and we reduced the interest rate on
borrowings from LIBOR plus 65 basis peints to LIBOR plus 55 basis
points. Certain covenants in the famhty were also amended to reflect

current market conditions.
1
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Our outstanding debt maturities and weighted average interest rates as of December 31, 2006, were as follows {dollars in thousands):

Scheduled Principal Payments During Period

Weighted

Secured Unsecured Unsecured
Fixed Rate Floating Fixed Average

Year . Debt Rate Debt Rate Debt Total" Interest Rate
2007 $ 10,232 $ - $ - $ 10,232 6.8%
2008 26,369 - - 26,369 7.0%
2009 7.879 - _ - 7.879 6.9%
2010 8,303 40,000 50,000 98,303 ©7.3%
2011 . . 229,905 400,000 - 629,905 . 6.200
2012 31,13 - 200,000 231113 7.0%
2013 3,804 - 700,000 203,804 .+ 6.5%
2014 15,789 - 250,000 265,789 .5.7%
2015 4,029 - 450,000 454029 - 6.0%
2016 . : 13,387 - 400,000 413,387 6.3%
2017 and thereafter 65,065 - - 65,065 7.3%

$ 415875 $ 440,000 $ 1,550,000 $ 2,405,875 6.3%

{1} Total debt as of December 31, 2006, net of unamortized premiums and discounts, equals $2,397,231.

When significant amounts are outstanding under our revolving credit
facility or the maturity dates of our revolving credit facility and term
debis approach, we will explore alternatives for the repayment of
amounts due. Such altermatives usually include incurring additional
term debt and issuing new equiry securities. We have an effective shelf
registration statement that allows us to issue public securities on an
expedited basis, but it does not assure that there will be buyers for such
securities. Although there can be no assurance that we will consummate
any debt or equity offerings or other financings, we believe we will have
access to various types of financing, including debt or equity offerings,
with which to finance future acquisitions and capital expenditures and
to pay our debt and other obligations.

The completion and the costs of our future debt transactions will depend
primarily upon market conditions and our credit ratings. We have no
control over market conditions. Our credit ratings depend upon evaluations
by credit rating agencies of our business practices and plans and, in
particular, whether we appear to have the ability to maintain our earnings,
to space our debt maturities and to balance our use of debt and equity
capital so that our financial performance and leverage ratios afford us
flexibility to withstand any reasonably anticipatable adverse changes.
We intend to conduct our business activities in a manner which will
continue to afford us reasonable access to capital for investment and
financing activities.

During 2006, we purchased 49 office properties and 15 industrial
properties for $456.8 million, plus closing costs, and funded improvements
to our owned properties totaling $116.0 million. We funded all our 2006
acquisitions and improvements to our owned properties with cash on
hand, by borrowing under our revolving credit facility and assuming
$49.5 million of mortgage debt. We sold five office properties with a

total of approximately 101,000 square feet of space for gross
proceeds of $13.7 million ($|10.6 million after closing costs and deposits
required to defease related mortgages).

As of December 31, 2006, we had an outstanding agreement to purchase
three properties containing 104,000 square feet of space for $8.6 million,
plus closing costs. These properties were acquired in February 2007 with
cash on hand and borrowin‘gs on our revolving credit facility. As of
February 26, 2007, we have executed purchase agreements for 17
additional properties with an aggregate of 4.3 million square feet of
space and an aggregate purchhse price of $220.0 million. The acquisitions
of these properties are subject to various closing conditions customary
in real estate transactions and no assurances can be given as to when
or if we will purchase these ﬁroperties.

During the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, cash expenditures
made and capitalized for tenant improvements, leasing costs, building
improvements and deveiopm:_:nt and redevelopment activities were as
follows (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2006 2005 -
Tenant improvements b3 64,671 . § 84,237
Leasing costs 25,514 22,419
Building improvements® 27,170 22,835
Development and
redevelopment activities” 24,165 14,064

{1} Building improvements generaily include recurring expenditures that are
necessary to maintain the ualut' of our properties.

{2} Development, redevelopment and other activities gererally include
non-recurring expenditures thatiincrease the value of our properties,
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Commitments made: for expenditures.in connection with leasing
space during the year ended December 31, 2006, are as follows
{amounts in thousands, except as noted): !

Total Renewals - New Leases

Square feet leased - ' ’ o

during the year 6,020 3,690 2,330
Total commitments for

tenant improvements

and leasing costs $ 82118 $ .33,792 § 48326
Leasing costs per square ? P :

foot (whole dollars) $ 1364 % ‘916 - $ 2074
Average lease term {years} 7.8 8.6 6.6

Leasing costs per square foot ‘
per year (whole dollars) $ 175  $ 1.06 % 3.14

in March 2006, we sold all 7.7 million common shares of beneficial
interest we owned of Senior Housing, and all. 4.0 million common
shares of beneficial interest we owned of Hospitality Properties for net
sales proceeds of $308.3 million and gains of $116.3 million. Net sales
proceeds were used to reduce amounts outstanding on our revolving
credit facility. During the year ended December 31; 2006, we received
cash distributions totaling $2.5 million from Senior Housing and
$2.9 million from Hospitality Properties.

In February 2006, we issued 6.0 million series C cumulative redeemable
preferred shares in a public offering for net proceeds of $145.0 million.
Each series C preferred share has a liquidation preference of $25.00 and
requires dividends of $1.78125, 7 1106 of the liquidation preference per
annum, payable in equal quarterly payments. Our series C preferred
shares are redeemable, at our optien, for $25.00 each plus accrued and
unpaid dividends at any time on or after February 15, 2011. We applied
the net proceeds from this offering to reduce amounts outstanding on
our revolving credit facility. Thereafter, we redeemed all $200 million of

our 9.875% series A preferred shares in March 2006 by borrowing under
our revolving credit facility. In March 2006, we issued $400 million
unsecured floating rate senior notes in a public.offering raising net
proceeds of approximately $398.7 million. The notes bear interest at
LIBOR plus a premium (6.0% at December 31,2006}, require quarterly
interest payments and mature in March 2011. Net proceeds from this
offering were used to repay our $350 million term loan that was scheduled
to mature in August 2009 and for general business purposes.

In October 2006, we issued an aggregate of approximately 15.2 million *
serles D cumulative convertible preferred shares, including approximately
2.0 million shares issued to cover over-allotments, in a public offering .
for net proceeds of $368.3 million. Holders of series D preferred shares
are entitled to receive cumulative cash distributions at a rate of 6.505%
per annum of the $25.00 per share liquidation preference (equivalent to
$1.625 per year per share). Our series D preferred shares are convertible,
at the holder's option, into our common shares at an initial conversion
rate of 1.9231 common shares per series D preferred share, which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of $13.00 per common share,
On or after November 20, 2011, if our commeon shares trade at or above
the then applicable conversion price, we may, at owr aption, convert
some or all of the series D preferred shares into common shares at the
then applicable conversion rate. If 2 fundamental change occurs, which
generally will be deemed to occur upon a change in control or a
termination of trading, holders of our series D preferred shares will have
a special right to convert their series D preferred shares into a number
of our common shares per $25.00 liquidation preference, plus accrued
and unpaid distributions, divided by 98% of the market price, as
defined, of our.common shares, unless we exercise our right to repurchase
these series D preferred shares for cash, at a purchase price equal to
100% of their liquidation preference, plus accrued and unpaid distributions.
Net proceeds from this offering were used to reduce amounts outstanding
under our revolving credit facility and for general business purposes,
including acquisitions.

As of December 31, 2006 lexcept as noted below), our contractual obligations were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Payment Due by Period
Less than 1 . More than 5
. Total Year 1-3 Years  3-5 Years Years

Long term debt obligations $ 2405875 $ 10232 .$ 34,248 § 728,208 $ 1,633,187
Tenant related obligations®! 60,023 43,755 16,268 - -
Purchase obligations® 228,600 228,600 ‘ - - -
Projected interest expense” 1,036,314 152,888 301,691 256,935 324,800
Total ’ $ 3,730,812 § 435475 $ 352207 § 985,143 $ 1,957,987

{1) Committed tenant related obligations include leasing commissions and tenant improvements and are based on leases executed through December 31, 2006.

{2) Represents the purchase price to acquire three properties for $8.6 mitlion, which was the subject af an executed purchase agreement on December 31, 2006, plus the
purchase price to acquire 17 properties for $220.0 mtﬂmn pursuant to agreements we entered in Jaruary and Ftbmary 2007.

{3} Projected interest expense is attributabic to only the l'cmg term debt abligations listed above at existing rates and is not intended to project future interest costs which
may result from debt prepayments, new debt issuances or changes in interest rates.
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Except as otherwise. discussed above under “Our Investment and
Financing Liquidity and Resources”, we have no commercial paper,
derivatives, swaps, hedges, guarantees, joint ventures ot off balance
sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2006. None of our debt
documentation requires us to provide collateral security in the event of
a ratings downgrade. .

Debt Covenants

Our principal debt obligations at December 31, 2006, were our unsecured
revolving credit facility and our $2.0 billion of publicly issued unsecured
term debt. Our publicly issued debt is governed by an indenture. Qur
public debt indenture and related supplements and our revolving credit
facility agreement contain a number of financial ratio covenants which
generally restrict our ability to incur debts, including debts secured by
mortgages on our properties in excess of calculated amounts, require us
to maintain a minimum net worth, restrict our ability to make distributions
under certain circumstances and require us to maintain other ratios.
At December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with all of our covenants
under our indenture and related supplements and our revolving credit
facility agreement.

In addition to our unsecured debt obligations, we have $415.9 million,
excluding unamortized premiums and discounts, of mortgage notes
outstanding at December 31, 2006.

None of our indenture and related supplements, our revolving credit
facility or our mortgage notes contain provisions for acceleration which
could be triggered by our debt ratings. However, our senior debt rating
is used to determine the interest rate and the fees payable under our
revolving credit facility.

Our public debt indenture and related supplements contain cross default
provisions to any other debts of $20 million or more. Similarly, a
default on our public debt indenture would be a default under our
revolving credir facility.

Related Person Transactions

We have agreements with Reit Management & Research LLC, or RMR,
to originate and present investment opportunities to our board of
trustees, and provide property management and administrative services
to us, RMR is beneficially owned by Barry M. Portnoy and Adam D.
Portnoy, who are our managing trustees. Each of our executive officers
are also officers of RMR. Our independent trustees, including all of our
trustees other than Messrs. Barry and Adam Portnoy, review our contracts
with. RMR at least annually and make determinations regarding
renewals. Any termination of our contract with RMR would cause a
default under our revolving credit facility, if not approved by a majority
of lenders. RMR is compensated at an annual rate equal to 0.7% of our
average real estate investments, as defined, up to the first $250 million
of such investments and 0.5% thereafter, plus an incentive fee based
upon increases in funds from operations per common share, as defined,
plus property management fees equal to 3.0% of gross rents and
construction management fees equal to 5.0% of construction costs. The
incentive fee to RMR is paid in our common shares. RMR also provides
the internal audit function for us and for other publicly owned companies
to which it provides management or other services. Our pro rata share
of RMR’s costs in providing that function was approximately $173,000

in 2006. Dur audit commmee appoints our director of intemnal audit,
and our compensation commmee approves his salary. Our compensation
committee also approves ;he costs which we pay with respect to our
internal audit function. All transactions between us and RMR are
approved by our compensanon committee. Our audit and compensation
committees are 100% composed of trustees who are independent of
RMR. Our fees to RMR were $29.5 million for 2006.

In 2006, we sold all 7.7 mllllon Senior Housmg common shares and ail
4.0 million Hospitality Pmperues common shares we owned. We, along
with Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties were parties to
underwriting agreements m connection with these sales. Senior Housing
and Hospitality Properties did not receive any proceeds from our sale of
their shares.

During 2006, we leased 3,000 square feet of office space to Five Star
Quality Care, Inc. Rent received under this lease totaled approximately
$5,000 during 2006.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our critical accounting policies are those that have the most impact on
the reporting of our ﬁnanmal condition and results of operations and
those requiring significant Judgments and estimates. We believe that our
judgments and estimates are consistently applied and produce financial
information that faidy pnsents our results of operations. Our most critical
accounting policies involve our investments in real property. These policies
affect our;

* allacation of purchase pnces bétween various asset categories and
the related impact on the recognition of rental income and
depreciation and amomzatlon expense;

+ assessment of the carrymg values and impairments of long lived
assets; and

* classification of leases.

‘We have historically allocated the purchase prices of properties to land,

building and 1mprow:ment.r>t and cach component generally has a
different useful life. For propcmcs acquired subsequent to June 1, 2001,
the effective date of FAS 141, we allocate the value of real estate
acquired among land, building and improvements and identified intangible
assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above market and below
market leases, the value of in place leases and the value of temant
relationships. Purchase price allocauons and the determination of useful
lives are based on our esnmates and, under some circumstances, studies
from independent real estate ?ppralsal firms.

Purchase price allocations t:l) tand, building and improvements are
based on our determination of the relative fair values of these assets
assuming the property is vacanL We determine the fair value of a property
using methods which we believe are similar to those used by independent
appraisers. Purchase price a]]ocatlom to above market and below market
leases are based on the esumated present value (using an interest rate
which reflects our assessment of the risks associated with the leases
acquired) of the difference bt::tween (i} the contracteal amounts to be
paid pursuant to the in place leases and (i) our estimate of fair market
lease rates for the corresponding leases, measured over a period equal
to the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases,

11
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Purchase price allocations to in place leases and tenant relationships are
determined as the excess of (i) the purchase price paid for a property
after adjusting existing in place leases to estimated market rental rates
over (i} the estimated fair value of the property as if vacant. This aggregate
value is allocated between in place lease values and tenant relationships
based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant's
lease; however, the value of tenant relationships has not been separated
from in place lease value because such value and related amortization
expense is immaterial for acquisitions reflected in our financial statements.
Factors we consider in performing these analyses include estimates of
carrying costs during the expected lease up periods, including real
estate taxes, insurance and other operating income and expenses and
costs to execute similar leases in current market conditions, such as
leasing commissions, legal and other related costs. 1f the value of tenant
relationships are material in the future, those amounts will be separately
allocated and amortized over the estimated life of the relationships.

We compute depreciation expense using the straight line method over
estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings and improvements,
and up to 12 years for personal property. The allocated cost of land is
not depreciated. Capitalized above market lease values (included in
acquired real estate leases in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet) are amortized as a reduction to rental income over the remaining
non-cancelable terms of the respective leases. Capitalized below market
lease values {presented as acquired real estate lease obligations in the
accompanying consclidated balance sheet} are amortized as an increase
to rental income over the remaining initial terms of the respective leases.
The value of in place leases exclusive of the value of above market and
below market in place leases is amortized to expense over the remaining
non-cancelable periods of the respective leases. If a lease is terminatéd
prior to its stated expiration, all unamortized amounts relating to that
lease are written off. Our purchase price allocations require us to make
certain assumptions and estimates. Incorrect assumptions and estimates
may result in inaccurate depreciation and amonriization charges over
future periods.

We periodically evaluate our real estate properties for impairment.
Impairment indicators may include declining tenant occupancy, weak or
declining tenant profitability, cash flow or liquidity, our decision to dispose
of an asset before the end of its estimated useful life or legislative,
economic or market changes that could permanently reduce the value
of our investments. If indicators of impairment are present, we evaluate
the carrying value of the related real estate property by comparing it to
the expected future undiscounted cash flows to be generated from that
property. If the sum of these expected future cash flows is [ess than the
carrying value, we reduce the net carrying value of the property to the
present value of these expected future cash flows. This analysis requires
us to judge whether indicators of impairment exist and to estimate likely
future cash flows. If we misjudge or estimate incorrectly or if future tenant
profitability, market or industry factors differ from our expectations we
may record an impairment charge which is inappropriate or fail to
record a charge when we should have done so, or the amount of such
charges may be inaccurate.

Some of our real estate properties are leased on a triple net basis,
pursuant to non-cancelable, fixed term, leases. Each time we enter a
new lease or materially modify an existing lease we evaluate its
classification as either a capital lease or operating lease. The classification
of a lease as capital or operating affects the carrying value of a property,
as well as our recognition of rental payments as revenue. These evaluations
require us to make estimates of, among other things, the remaining useful
life and market value of a property, discount rates and future cash flows.
Incorrect assumptions or estimates may result in misclassification of our
leases and make our stated revenues and income inaccurate,

These policies involve significant judgments made based upon our
experience, including judgments about current valuations, ultimate
realizable value, estimated useful lives, salvage or residual value, the
ability of our tenants to perform their obligations to us, current and
future economic conditions and competitive factors in the markets in
which our properties are located. Competition, economic conditions and
other factors may cause occupancy declines in the future, In the future,
we may need to revise our carrying value assessments to incorporate
information which is not now known, and such revisions could increase
or decrease our depreciation expense related to properties we own,
result in the classification of our ieases as other than operating leases
or decrease the camrying values of our assets.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

Inflation might have both positive and negative impacts upon us.
Inflation might cause the value of our real estate to increase, Inflation
might also cause our costs of equity and debt capital and other operating
costs to increase. An increase in our capital costs or in our operating
costs will result in decreased earnings unless it is offset by increased
revenues, To mitigate the adverse impact of increased costs of debt capital
in the event of material inflation, we may enter into interest rate hedge
arrangements in the future. The decision to enter into these agreements
will be based on the amount of our floating rate debt outstanding, our
belief that material interest rate increases are likely to occur and upon
requirements of our borrowing arrangements.

In periods of rapid inflation, our tenants’ operating costs may increase
faster than revenues and this fact may have an adverse impact upon us
if our tenants’ operating income becomes insufficient to pay our rent.
To mitigate the adverse impact of increased operating costs, we require
some of our tenants to provide guarantees or security for our rent.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to risks associated with market changes in interest rates.
We manage our exposure to this market risk by monitoring available
financing alternatives, Our strategy to manage exposure to changes in
interest rates is unchanged from December 31, 2005. Other than as
described below, we do not foresee any significant changes in our exposure
to fluctuations in interest rates or in how we manage this exposure in
the near future.
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At December 31, 2006, our total outstanding fixed rate'term debt
consisted of the following fixed rate notes:

Amount’ Coupon Maturity
Unsecured senior notes:” © ¥, oL .
$30.0 million 8.875% . < 2010 .
' !$20.0 million - - 8.625% - 2010 .
-$200.0 million .- ' * 6.950% - 2012 -
$200.0 million - 6.500% -+ 2013
$250.0 mitlion 5.750% . 2014 -
o4 $200.0 million” 6.4000% © " - . 2015 v
' £250.0 million V5.750% 2015 [ ’
5.250% 20]5 [

5400 0 million

4 . '

No pnnmpal repayments are due under the unsecured senior notes -

until maturity. S o

Secured notest ! A .

7.020% ' 2008

$16.1 milljon
Wt $3.6 million 8.000% 2008 '
$3.2 million ~ 5.170% ' 2009
-$242.5 million 6.81405 . Co2011e '
$25.2 million 8.050% 2012 !
-$5.3 million - - 60000 . 2012
$13.9 million - 49500 - 2014 !
$13.6 million 736000 7 72016
$4.5 million 7.310% 2022
" $2.2 million C Lt 78500 2022
$5.2 million 6,750% 2022.
$9.6 million 5.710% 2026
' +$29.0 million 8.500% - - 2028
$42.0 mllllon ‘ 6.794%" 2029 E
' ) . . v

Our secured notes are secured by 50 of our properties and require principal
and interest payments through maturity pursiiant to amortization schedules.

Because these notes bear interest at fixed rates, changes in market interest
rates during the term of this debt will not affect our operating results.
If all of our fixed rate unsecured and secured notes outstanding at
December 31, 2006, were to be refinanced at interest rates which are
10% higher or lower than shown above, our per annum interest cost
would increase or decrease, respectively, by approximately $12.7 million.

Changes in market interest rates also affect the fair value of our debt
obligations; increases in market interest rates decrease the fair value of
our fixed rate debt, while decreases in market interest rates increase the
value of our fixed rate debt. Based on the balances outstanding at

December 31, 2006, and discounted cash flow analyses, a hypothetical
immediate 10% change inlinterest rates would change the fair value of
our ﬁxed rate debt obilgatlons by apprnmmately $70 million.’
Each of our fixed rate unsecured and sccure.d debt arrangements allows
us’to make repayments earller than the stated maturity date. In some
cases, we are not atlowed to make early repayment prior to a cutoff date
and in most cases we are allowed to make prepayments only-at a
premium equal to a make \.'vhole amount, as defined, generally designed
to preserve a stated yield to the note holder. These prepayment rights
may afford us the. opportumty to mitigate the risk of refinancing at
maturity at higher rates by refinancing prior to maturity. The majority
of our fixed rate senior notes are separately publicly traded; and we
may occasionally take advalmtage of market opportunities to repurchase
notes which will also mitigate future refinancing risks.

1 . . .
At December 31, 2006, we had $40 million outstanding and $710 million
available for drawing under our unsecured revolving credit facility and
$400 million outstanding on our floating rate senior notes. Qur revolving
credit facility and floating rate senior notes mature in August 2010 and
March 2011, respectively. Repayments under our revolving credit facility
may be made at any time wnthout penalty. Repayments under our floating
rate senior notes may also be made without penalty. We borrow in U.S.
dollars and borrowings under our revolving credit facility and our floating
rate senior notes require interest at LIBOR plus a premium. Accordingly,
we are vulnerable to chan'ges in ‘1.5, dollar based short term rates,
specifically LIBOR. For example, the weighted -average interest. rate
payable on our revolver and floating rate senior notes was 5.8% during
2006. A change in interest|rates would not affect the value of these
floating rate debts but would affect aur operating results. The following
table presents the impact a 109% change in interest rates would have on
our floating rate interest e'xpense as of December 31, 2006 (dollars
in thousands):

Impact of Changes in Interest Rates

' ' ) + Total Interest
Interest Rate Outstanding Expense
| Per Year Debt Per Year
At December 31, 2006 6.0% $ 440,000 $ 26,400
10% reduction’ S 54% $ 440,000 $ 23,760
10% increase 6.6% $ 440,000 $ 29,040

The foregoing table shows \‘.hel impact of an immediate change in foating
interest rates. If interest rates were to change gradually over time, the
impact would be spread over time, Our exposure to fluctuations in floating
interest rates will increase or decrease in the future with increases or
decreases in the outstanding amount of our revolving credit facility
or other floating rate debt.
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WARNING CONCERNING FORWARD LOOKING STATEIMENTS

THlS ANNUAL REPORT CONTAINS STATEMENTS WHICH CONSTITUTE
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE
PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995 AND OTHER
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS. WHENEVER WE USE WORDS SUCH AS
“BELIEVE", “EXPECT", "ANTICIPATE", “"INTEND", “PLAN", “ESTIMATE"
OR SIMILAR EXPRESSIONS, WE ARE MAKING FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS. THESE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS ARE BASED
UPON OUR PRESENT INTENT, -BELIEFS. OR EXP_ECTATIONS. .BUT
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS:-ARE NOT. GUARANTEED TO
OCCUR AND MAY NOT OCCUR. IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT COULD
CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER ‘MATERIALLY- FROM THOSE IN
OUR FORWARD LOOKING S'I'ATEMENT$ ARE: '

* THE SECURITY OF OUR RENTAL INCOME AND OUR LEASES,

¢ THE CREDIT QUALITY OF OUR TENANTS, T

¢ THE LIKELIHOOD THAT QUR TENANTS WILL PAY REN'I' RENEW
LEASES, SIGN NEW LEASES.OR BE AFFECTED BY CYCLICAL
ECONOMIC CONDITIONS,

¢ OUR ACQUISITION AND SALE OF PROPERTIES,

» OUR ABILITY TO COMPETE EFFECTIVELY, ' :

s« OUR ABILITY TO PAY INTEREST ON AND PRINCIPAL OF QOUR DEBT,

* OUR ABILITY TO PAY DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS,

¢ QUR POLICIES AND PLANS REGARDING INVESTMENTIS AND
FINANCINGS,

+ THE FUTURE AVARABIITY OF BORROWINGS UNDER QUR RE/OLVING
CREDIT EACILITY,

s OUR TAX STATUS AS A REAL ESTATE INV'ESTMENT TRUST,

* OUR ABILITY TO RAISE CAPITAL

AND OTHER MATTERS.

ACTUAL RESULTS MAY DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE
CONTAINED IN OR IMPLIED BY THE FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS AS A RESULT OF VARIOUS FACTORS. SUCH FACTORS
INCLUDE, WITHOUT LIMITATION,

» CHANGES IN THE ECONOMY AND THE CAPITAL MARKETS,
¢ COMPETITION WITHIN THE REAL ESTATE INDUSTRY OR THOSE
INDUSTRIES IN WHICH OUR TENANTS OPERATE, AND -

¢ CHANGES IN FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LEGISLATION.

FOR EXAMPLE: . . .

« SOME OF OUR TENANTS MAY NOT RENEW EXPIRING LEASES; AND
WE MAY BE UNABLE TO LOCATE NEW TENANTS TO MAINTAIN THE
HISTORICAL OCCUPANCY RATES OF OUR PROPERTIES,

« RENTS THAT WE CAN CHARGE AT OUR PROPERTIES MAY DECLINE,

« OUR TENANTS MAY EXPERIENCE LOSSES AND BECOME UNABLE
TO PAY OUR RENTS,

« CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES COULD CAUSE THE CLOSINGS OF
OUR COMMITTED ACQUISITIONS NOT TO OCCUR OR BE DELAYED
BECAUSE THE RESULTS OF VARIOUS DILIGENCE ITEMS MAY
CAUSE TRANSACTIONS TO FAIL TO CLOSE,

o WE MAY BE UNABLE TO IDENTIFY PROPERTIES WHICH WE WAN:I'
TO BUY OR TO NEGOTIATE ACCEPTABLE PURCHASE PRICES, AND

« OTHER RISKS MAY ADVERSELY IMPACT US, AS DESCRIBED MORE
FULLY.IN OUR ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K FILED WITH THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, UNDER “ITEM 14.
RISK FACTORS”

THESE RESULTS COULD OCCUR DUE .TO MANY DIFFERENT
CIRCUMSTANCES, SOME OF WHICH, SUCH AS CHANGES IN OUR

' TENANTS' FINANCIAL CONDITIONS OR NEEDS FOR LEASED SPACE,

OR CHANGES IN THE CAPITAL MARKETS OR THE ECONOMY GENERALLY,
ARE BEYOND QUR CONTROL. THE .INFORMATION CONTAINED,
ELSEWHERE IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT IDENTIFY OTHER IMPORTANT
FACTORS THAT COULD CAUSE SUCH DIFFERENCES.

YOU SHOULD NOT PLACE UNDUE R.EL[ANCE UPON FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS.

EXCEPT AS MAY BE REQUIRED .BY APPLICABLE LAW, WE DO NOT
INTEND TO IMPLY THAT WE WILL RELEASE PUBLICLY THE RESULT
OF ANY REVISION TO THE FORWARD LGOKING STATEMENTS
CONTAINED IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT TO REFLECT THE FUTURE
OCCURRENCE OF PRESENTLY .UNANTICIPATED EVENTS.




REAL ESTATE OWNED

{dollars in thousands)

- - ’ Amount at Which Carried at December 31, 2006 -
Number of  Year(s) Year(s) Square |Buildings & Accumulated
Location Properties Built Acquired Feet . Land Improvements Total® Depreciation'®
Alabama |, . . 1 2001 2006 123,604 $ 4,000 'I$ 19,604 $ 23,604 $ 22
Alaska . ’ 1 1983 1997 24,279 189 843 1,032 208
Arizona . ..,, 1o 1982 - 1999 | 1997 - 2003 1,074,383 14,566 108,795 123,361 17,273
California ' . 46 1971 - 2000 1996 - 2004 2,428,708 43,768 384,387 428,155 68,176
Colorado ’ 10 1980 - 1997 1997 - 2004 1,342,816 13,243 118,492 131,735 15,693
Connecticut oo ‘18 1962 - 1993 1598 - 2006 1,898,234 24,763 119,823 144,586 6,125
Delaware 2 1984 - 1986 1998 - 1999 406,552 5,890 63,891 69,781 12,219
District of Columbia " 5 1966 - 1996 1996 - 1998 . 891,895 . 29,681 216,744 246,425 49,157
Florida - <. : 4 1987 - 1997 1998 . 83,325 1,159 10,754 11,913 2,548
Georgia o 43 1567 - 1990 1997 - 2006 2,358,853 30,391 222,509 252,900 12,851
Hawaii 56 - 2003 - 2005 17,879,597 580,768 47,550 628,318 1,824
lllinois . 5 1986 - 2001 2005 655,483 13,164 108,544 121,708 2,825
lnqiana ) . 3 “1977 - 1987 2005 - 2006 774,436 8,828 72,576 81,404 2,803
Kansas : 1 1990 1597 168,746 1,061 8,453 9,514 1,627
Kentucky ’ 1 1999 2003 85,503 2,020 9,507 11,627 843
Maryland 14 -1972 - 2002 1997 - 2004 2,468,495 43,821 330,638 374,459 48,365
Massachusetts ’ 35 1875 - 2002 1995 - 2004 2,528,753 36,378 312,876 349,254 50,393
Michigan 18 1973 - 1992 2004 ' 1,059,882 6,609 58,408 65,017 3,697
Minnesota 15 1957 - 1995 1998 - 2004 1,661,465 12,592 129,745 142,341 24327
Missouri : 6« 1981 - 1999 1997 - 2006 516,322 11,158 47,601 58,759 3,436
New Hampshire . .1, 1979 1995 210,879 2,210 15,960 22,170 3,805
New Jersey 4 1979 - 1990 1998 308,470 3,583 34,062 . 37,645 9,014
New Mexico . ' 16 . 1974 - 1987 1397 - 2003 1,208,177 12,570 100,709 . 113,279 12,905
New York . 53 ' 1952 - 2004 1996 - 2006 3,785,493 43,692 362,374 406,066 38,871
Ohio ' 18 ' 1975 - 1999 1998 - 2006 1,192,140 6,897 61,019 67,916 5,092
Oklzhoma ! 5 ¢ 1992 - 1993 1997 - 1999 392,375 6,804 39,833 46,637 8,687
Pennsylvania : 37 ¢ 1560 - 1998 1997 - 2005 7,403,822 93,932 931,457 1,025,439 154,564
Rhode Island 1 1997 1997 62,000 320 7,690 8,010 1,841
South Carolina 9.+ ;15982 - 2000 2006 590,245 5867 47,335 53,202 682
Tennessee 3 1983 - 2000 1998 - 2004 459,073 5,527 50,214 55,741 6,711
Texas . 3o 1968 - 2001 1997 - 2003 3,781,546 52,482 384,371 436,853 74,216
Virginia. n 1964 - 1999 1996 - 2006 1,127,977 12,837 109,521 122,358 17,044
Washington . 20 1975 -199%5 1997 - 2004 752,246 9,417 65,563 74,980 7,646
West Virginia . ' 1, 1993 1997 36,818 922 4,439 5,361 987
Wyoming 1 1995 1997 122,647 1,950 8,873 - 10,823 2,083
Total real estate owned 504 ] 59,865,239 $ 1,143,109  $4619,164  $ 5,762,273 $ 668,460
TAXABILITY OF COMMON DISTRIBUTIONS
, Unrecaptured
Distribution Ordinary Capital Return of Section 1250
Payment Date Paid Per Share Income | Gain -_Capital Gain
February 23, 2006 $ 02100 $ 01323 -3 0.0756 3 - $ 0.00n
May 24, 2006 0.2100 0.1323 0.0756 - 0.0011
August 25, 2006 0.2100 0.1333 0.0757 - 0.0010
November 22, 2006 0.2100 0.1334 0.0757 - 0.0005
January 31, 2007 0.2100 0.1334 0.0757 — 0.0005
Total 2006 distributions™ $ 1.0500 $ 0.6667 $ | 0.3783 $ — $ 0.0050
February 23, 2005 $ 0.2100 $ 0.1328 b 0.0085 $ 0.0687 $ 0.0023
May 23, 2005 0.2100 0.1328 0.0085 0.0687 0.0023
August 25, 2005 0.2100 0.1328 0.0085 0.0687 0.0023
November 22, 2005 0.2100 0.1328 0.0085 0.0687 0.0023
Total 2005 distributions™ $ 0.8400 3 0.5312 $ 1 0.0340 $ 0.2748 $ 0.0092

{1} Excludes value of acquired real estate leases. Aggregate cost for federal income tar purposes is $5,833,622.

{2) Depreciation is provided using estimated uscful lives for buildings and improvements of up to 40 years and for equipment of up to 12 years.

{3) Distributions per common share declared with respect 1o 2006 ond 2005 were $0.84 and $0.84, respectively.
{4) 2005 Capital Gains per share include $0.0092 of 2005 Unrecaptured Section 1250 Gains.
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MANAGEMENT REPORT ON ASSESSMENT OF
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

r

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control system is designed to
provide reasonable assurance to our management and board of trustees regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasenable assurance with "respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Qur management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial repom"ng as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment,
it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control Integrated Framework. -
Based on our assessment, we believe that, as of December 31, 2006, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Ernst & .Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our 2006 consolidated financial statements included in this
annual report, has issued an attestation report on our assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. Its-report appears elsewhere herein,

" . f I
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE TRUSTEES AND SHAREHOLDERS OF HRPT PROPERTIES TRUST

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management Report on Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, that HRPT Properties Trust maintained effective internal contrel over financial repomng as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Intermal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamzatlons of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). HRPT Properties Trust's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control aver financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opmlon on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting DverSIght Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective mtemal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal contml over financial reporting, evaluating
management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control and performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally aeeepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) pr0v1de reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures for the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of"managemem and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become madequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that HRPT Properties Trust maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also in our opinion, HRPT Properties Trust maintained, in all material

respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the CO50 criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 2006 consolidated
financial statements of HRPT Properties Trust and our report dated February 23, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

érvmt v LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 23, 2007

17




18

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE TRUSTEES AND SHAREHOLDERS OF HRPT PROPERTIES TRUST

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of HRPT Properties Trust as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related
consolidated statements of income, sharcholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company 's management. Our responsibility is to express an opmmn on these financial statements
based on our audits. : :
. N 1 -

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that cur audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. -

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of HRPT
Properties Trust at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of
HRPT Properties Trust's intemat control over financialireporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criterla established in Internal Control ~ Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comm1551on and our report dated Febmary 23, 2007 expressed

an unquahﬁed opinion thereon.
: é/vmt v Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 23, 2007




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

{amounts in thousands, ercept share data)

December 31,

2006 2005

ASSETS
Real estate properties: - .

Land R . $ 1,143)109 ! $ 1,080,563

Buildings and improvements 4,619}] 64 4,144,011

5,762,273 5,224,574

Accumulated depreciation : [668,’460) . (548,460}

- . : 5,093,813 . 4,676,114
Properties held for sale : . - . . 10,779
Acquired real estate leases - 167,879 . 161,787
Equity investments ' - - 194,297
Cash and cash equivalents 17,783 19,445
Restricted cash : : . 21,635 : 18,348
Rents receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts ‘ -1

of $4,737 and $3,767, respectively - R ' . 172;566 145,385
Other assets, net 102,273 101,012
Total assets . - $§ 5575949 - - $ 5327167
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY . .- “
Revolving credit facility $ 40,000 . 3 256,000
Senior unsecured debt, net 1,941,173 1,889,991
Mortgage notes payable, net 416,058 . 374,165
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 93,734 80,125
Dividends payable T S . 44,111 -
Acquired real estate lease obligations’ 3 ’ 41,833 38,987
Rent collected in advance 19,592 17,858
Security deposits 15,972 13,679
Due to affiliates 12,708 10,876
Total liabilities 2,625,181 - 2,681,681

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value:
50,000,000 shares authorized;

Series A preferred shares; 9 "% cumulative redeemable at par on . '
February 22, 2006; zero and 8,000,000 shares issued and outstanding, . . .
respectively, aggregate liquidation preference $200,000 - 193,086

Series B preferred shares; 8 */% cumulative redeemable at par on
September 12, 2007; 12,000,000 shares issued and outstanding,
aggregate liquidation preference $300,000 289,840 289,849

Series C preferred shares; 7 /% cumulative redeemable at par on
February 15, 2011; 6,000,000 and zero shares issued and outstanding,
respectively, aggregate liquidation preference $150,000 145,015 -

Seriés D preferred shares; 6 /9% cumulative convertible; 15,180,000 and
zero shares issued and outstanding, respectively, aggregate liquidation
preference $379,500 368,270 -

Common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value:
300,000,000 shares authorized; 210,051,530 and 209,860,625 shares issued

and cutstanding, respectively 2,101 2,099
Additional paid in capital 2,774,461 2,779,159
Cumulative net income 1,703,354 1,452,774
Cumulative common distributions (2.115,299) (1,894,818}
Cumulative preferred distributions __[216,983) - {176,663)

Total sharcholders’ equity 2,950,768 2,645,486

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 5575949 $ 5327,167

See accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

{amounts in thousands, except per share data)

" Year Ended December 31,

: 2006 2005 2004
Rental income $ 795821 $ 708,841 $ 599,635
Expenses: . R
Operating expenses . 310,712 269,563 226,807
Depreciation and amortization 159,826 135,890 111,744
General and administrative 32,133 30,446 25,170
Total expenses 502,671 435,899 363,721
Qperating income . 293,150 272,942 235,914
Interest income v s 2,736 1,490 638
‘Interest expense (including amortization of note dlscounts and
premiums-and deferred financing fees 'of $4,452, $2 488 _
and $4,341, respectively} . {165,894} (143,663) (118,212)
Loss on early extinguishment »c;f dehbt b (1,653) (168) {2,866)
Equity in earnings of equity investments ) 3,136 14,352 15,457
Gain on sale of equity investments ‘ 116,287 5,522 21,550
Gain on issuance of shares by equity investees - 6,241 8,436
Income from continuing operations 247,756 156,716 160,917
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (93) 676 1,912
Gain: on sale of properties ‘ 2,917 7,592 —
Net income | 250,580 164,984 162,829
Preferred distributions ¥ (44,692) {46,000) {46,000)
Excess redemption price paid over carrymg value ‘ -
of preferred shares . (6,914) — =
Net income available for common shareholders & . . $§ 198,974 $ 118,984 $ 116,829
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic + 209,965 . 187,831 176,157
i Weighted average common shares cutstanding - d;iluted 216,524 197,831 176,157
Earnings per common share: [ i
Income fmm continuing operanons avallable for common
shareholders - basic and diluted- ) $ 0.93 $ 0.56 $ 0.65
Income from discontinued operations — basic and diluted - '3 001 -« § 0.04 0.01
Net income available for common shareholders;- basic b . 0.95 ‘% 0.60 0.66
Net income available for common sl_nareholderé’— diluted ' $ 0.94 -3 0.60 0.66

. i . .
See accompanying notes

'
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUl'TY.

{amounts in theusands, except share data}

Balance at December 31, 2003
Issuance of shares, net

Stock grants

Net income

Distributions

Balance at December 31, 2004
Issuance of shares, net

Stock grants

Net income

Distributions

Balance at December 31, 2005
Issuance of shares, net
Redemption of shares

Stock grants

Net income

Distributions

Balance at December 31, 2006.

Preferred Shares

Series A .

Series B Series C
Number of Preferred Number of ; Preferred " Number of » Preferred
Shares l . Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares
| o )

8,000,000 . $ 193,086 12,000,000 $ 289,849 - $ -
8,000,000 193,086 12,000,000 289,849 — —
— - - - - -
8,000,000 193,086 12,000,000 289,849 - -
- - P - 6,000,000 145,015
(8,000,000) (193,086) - - . - -
12,000,000 $ 289,849 6,000,000 $ 145,015

— $ -

See accompanying notes




Preferred Shares . Common Shares |

Series D ~ Cumulative Cumulative Additional i |
Number of Preferred Preferred Number of Common Common P‘gid in Cumulative
Shares Shares Distributions Shares Shares Distributions Capital Net Income Total
- 3 - $ (84,663) 142,773,925 §$ 1,428  $1(1,584,212) - $ 2.|O?1,203 $ 1,124,961 $ 2,011,651
- - — 34,500,000 345 - 323,294 - - 323,639
- - -= 42,600 - - 449 - © 449
- - - - - - - 162,829 - 162,829
— — (46,000) - - (145,374) — - {191,374)
- - . (130,663) 177,316,525 1,773 (1,729,587) 2,394,946 1,287,790 2,307,194
- - - 32,500,000 325 - 383,649 - 383,974
- - - 44,100 -1 - 664 - - 565
- - - - - - - 164,984 164,984
- - (46,000) — — (165,231) - = {211,231)
- —  (176,663) 209,860,625 2,099 {1,894,818) 2,779,159 1,452,774 2,645,486
15,180,000 368,270 - - - - - - 513,285
- - : - - - - (6,914) - {200,000)
- - - 190,965 2 - 2,216 - 2,218
- - - - - - - 250,580 250,580
— {40,320) — — {220,481 — - (260,801)

15,180,000 §$ 368,270 $ (216,983) 210,051,530 § 2,101 $(2,115,299 $ 2,774,461 $ 1,703,354 $ 2,950,768 I
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

famounts in thousands]

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization of note discounts and
premiums and deferred financing fees
Amortization of acquired real estate leases.
Other amortization
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Equity in eamings of equity investments
Gain on sale of equity investments
Gain on issuance of shares by equity investees
Distributions of eamings from equity investments
Gain on sale of properties
Change in assets and liabilities:
(increase} decrease in restricted cash
Increase in rents receivable and other assets
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Increase in rent collected in advance
Increase in security deposits
[ncrease {decrease) in due to affiliates
Cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Real estate acquisitions and improvements
Distributions in excess of earnings from equity investments
Proceeds from sale of properties
Proceeds from sale of equity investments
Cash used for investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of preferred shares, net
Redemption of preferred shares
Proceeds from issuance of common shares, net -
Proceeds from borrowings
Payments on borrowings
Deferred financing fees
Distributions to common shareholders
Distributions to preferred shareholders
Cash (used for) provided by financing activities

{Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
$ 250,580 $ 164,984 $ 162,829
128,768 111,951 95,977
4,452 2,488 4,34)
30,098 23,025 13,27
11,482 8,871 6,139
1,659 - 2,866
(3,136) (14,352) (15,457}
{116,287) {5,522) {21,550)
- - [6,241) (8,436)
3,136 14,352 15,457
(2,917) {7,592) -
(3.287) 3,909 {11,583)
(36,311} (69,972) (54,346)
12,254 1,043 7,175
1,734 2,650 2,073
2,322 1,902 2,400
1,832 {5,542) 8,048
286,379 225,954 209,204
(527,661) (576,082) (765,091)
2,251 8,294 9,115
10,641 20,078 -
308,333 16,976 73,275
{206,436) (530,734) {682,701)
513,285 - -
(200,000) - -
- 383,974 323,639
1,112,000 1,058,247 1,660,436
(1,286,688) (921,555) {1,302,580)
(3,512) (7.17) (6,189)
(176,370} {165,231) (145,374)
{40,320) {46,000 {46,000}
(81,605) 302,264 483,932
(1,662) {2,516) 10,435
15,445 21,961 11,526
3 17,783 3 19,445 $ 21,961

See accompanying notes




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

{amounts in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 1 2005 2004
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION: . .
Interest paid (including capitalized interest paid of $335 in 2006) ] 160,553 $ 141,890 % . 101,255
NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES: : .
Real estate acquisitions $ {(50,655) $  (29,274) $ (119,958)

NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES: :
Issuance of common shares  ~ . $ 2,218 $. 565 $ 449 .
Assumption of mortgage notes payable 50,655 29,274 - 119,958

See accompanying notes
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

HRPT Properties Trust is a Maryland real estate investment trust, or REIT, which was organized on October 9, 1986. At December 31, 2006, we had
investments in 504 office and industrial properties, including approximately 18 million square feet of leased industrial and commercial lands.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include our investments in 100% owned subsidiaries. Our investments in 509% or less
owned companies over which we could exercise influence, but did not control, were accounted for using the equity method of accounting until
sold during March 2006. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated, Significant influence was present through common representation
en the board of trustees. One of our managing trustees is also a managing trustee of Senior Housing Properties Trust, or Senior Housing, and
Hospitality Properties Trust, or Hospitality Properties, and our two managing trustees are owners of Reit Management & Research LLC, or RMR,
which is the investment manager to us, Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties. We used the income statement method to account for issuance
of common shares of beneficial interest by Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties. Under this method, gains and losses reflecting changes in
the value of our investments at the date of issuance of additional common shares by Senier Housing or Hospitality Properties were recognized in
our income statement. .

Real Estate Properties. Real estate propertics are recorded at cost. Depreciation on real estate investments is provided for on a straight line basis
over estimated useful lives ranging up to 40 years.

We have historically allocated the purchase prices of properties to land, building and improvements, and each component generally has a different
useful life, For properties acquired subsequent to June 1, 2001, the effective date of Financial Accounting Standard No. 141, “Business
Combinations™, or FAS 141, we allocate the value of real estate acquired among land, building and improvements and identified intangible assets
and liabilities, consisting of the value of above market and below market leases, the value of in place leases, and the value of tenant relationships.
Purchase price altocations and the determination of useful lives are based on management’s estimates and, under some circumstances, studies from
independent real estate appraisal firms.

Purchase price allocations to land, building and improvements are based on management's determination of the relative fair values of these assets
assuming the property is vacant. Management determines the fair value of a property using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers.
Purchase price allocations to above market and below market leases are based on the present value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks
associated with the leases acquired} of the difference between (i} the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in place leases and (i} our
estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding leases, measured over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective
leases, Purchase price allocations to in place leases and tenant relationships are determined as the excess of (i) the purchase price paid for a property
after adjusting existing in place leases to market rental rates over (ii) the estimated fair value of the property as if vacant. This aggregate value is
allocated between in place lease values and tenant relationships based on management's evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant’s
lease; however, the value of tenant relationships has not been separated from in place lease value because such value and related amortization
expense is immaterial for acquisitions reflected in our financial statements. Factors we consider in performing these analyses include estimates of
carrying costs during the expected lease up periods, including real estate taxes, insurance and other operating income and expenses and costs to
execute similar leases in current market conditions, such as leasing commissions, legal and other related costs. If the value of tenant relationships
is material in the future, those amounts will be separately allocated and amortized over the estimated life of the relationships.

Capitalized above market lease values {included in acquired real estate leases in our consolidated balance sheet) are amortized as a reduction to
rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the respective leases. Capitalized below market lease values [presented as acquired real
estate lease obligations in our consolidated balance sheet) are amortized as an increase to rental income over the non-cancelable periods of the
respective leases. Such amortization resulted in charges to rental income of ($10.4) million, ($7.4) million and ($3.0} million during the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The value of in place leases exclusive of the value of above market and below market in place
leases is amortized 10 expense over the remaining non-cancelable periods of the respective leases. Such amortization amounted to $19.7 million,
$15.7 million and $10.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. If a lease is terminated prior to its stated
expiration, the unamortized amount relating to that lease is written off.

Intangible lease assets and liabilities recorded by us for properties acquired in 2006 totaled $44.7 million and $9.5 million, respectively. Intangible
lease assets and liabilities recorded by us for properties acquired in 2005 totaled $42.0 million and $5.4 million, respectively. Accumulated
amortization of capitalized above and below markét lease values was $20.7 million and $10.1 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Accumulated amortization of the value of in place leases exclusive of the value of above and below market in place leases was $52.6 million and
$33.0 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Future amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities to be recognized by us during
the current terms of our leases as of December 31, 2006, are approximately $29.5 million in 2007, $26.2 million in 2008, $22.1 million in 2009,
$18.1 million in 2010, $10.3 million in 2011 and $19.8 million thereafter.

Impairment losses on investments are recognized where indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flow estimated to be
generated by our investments is less than the carrying amount of such investments. The determination of undiscounted cash flow includes consideration
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of many factors including income to be earned from the investment, holding costs {exclusive of interest), estimated selling prices, and prevailing
economic and market conditions,

Certain of our real estate assets contain hazardous substances, including asbestos. We believe the asbestos at our properties is contained in accordance
with current environmental regulations and we have no current plans to remove it, If these properties v:'ere demolished today, certain environmenta]
regulations specify the manner in which the asbestos must be handled and disposed of. Because the obligation to remove the asbestos has an
indeterminable settlement date, we are not able to reasonably estimate the fair value of this asset retirement obligation. We do not believe that
there are environmental conditions at any of our properties that have a material adverse effect on us. However, no assurances can be given that
such conditions are not present in our properties or that other costs we incur to remediate contamination will not have a material adverse effect
on our business or financial condition.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and short term investments with original maturities of three month: or less at the date of purchase are camed
at-cost plus accrued interest.

Restricted Cash. Restricted cash consists of amounts escrowed for future real estate taxes, insurance, leasing costs, capital expenditures and debt
service, as required by some of our mortgage debts.

Other Assets, Net. Other assets consist principally of deferred financing fees, deferred leasing costs|and prepaid property operating expenses.
Deferred financing fees include issuance costs related to borrowings and are capitalized and amortized over the terms of the respective loans. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005, deferred financing fees totaled $34.2 million and $34.3 million, respe'ctlvely, and accumulated amortization for
deferred financing fees totaled $16.9 million and $15.5 million, respectively. Deferred leasing costs include brokerage, legal and other fees associated with
the successful negotiation of leases and are amortized on a straight line basis over the terms of the respecnvc leases. Deferred leasing costs totaled
$95.2 million and $74.8 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and accumulated amortization for deferred leasing costs totaled $25.1
million and $18.9 million, respectively, Future amortization of deferred financing fees and leasing costs to be recognized by us during the current
terms of our loans and leases as of December 31, 2006, are approximately $15.6 million in 2007, $1414 million in 2008, 513 0 million in 2009,
$11.1 million in 2010, $7.8 million in 201 and $25.5 million thereafter.

Revenue Recognition. Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight line basis over the life of the lease agreements.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resultmg from the inability or unwillingness of
certain tenants to make payments required under their leases, The computation of the allowance is based on the tenants’ payment histories and
current credit profiles, as well as other considerations.

Earnings Per Common Share. Earnings per common share, or EPS, is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if our series D convertible preferred shares were converted into our
common shares, where such conversion would result in a lower EPS amount.

Reclassifications. Reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ financial statements and footnotes to conform to the current year's presentation.
Income Tares. We are a real estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended Accordingly, we expect not to be subject
to federal income taxes if we continue to distribute our taxable income and meet other requirements for quahfymg as a real estate investment trust,
- However, we are subject to some state and local taxes on our income and property.

Use of Esnmates Preparation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires us to ‘make
estimates and assumptions that may affect the amounts reported in these financial statements and related notes. The actual results. could differ
from these estimates,

New Accounting Pronouncements. In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued |Interpretation No. 48 "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48). FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,{2006. FIN 48 prescribes how we should
recognize, measure and present in our financial statements uncertain tax positions that have heen taken or are expected to be taken in a tax return.
Pursuant to FIN 48, we can recognize a tax benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that a particu|lar tax position will be sustained upon
examination or audit. To the extent the “more likely than not” standard has been satisfied, the benefit assomated with a tax position is measured
as the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon setilement. We are currently cvaluatmg the effect that the adoption of
FIN 48 will have on our consolidated financial statements; however, we do not anticipate the effect, if any, will be material.

NOTE 3. REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES

During 2006 we purchased 49 office properties for $340.1 million, plus closing costs, and 15 industrial properties for $116.7 million, plus closing
costs. We also funded $116.0 million of improvements to our owned properties. We funded all of these trans:';ctions with cash on hard, by borrowing
under our revolving credit facility and the assumption of $49.5 million of secured mortgage debt, We allocated $44.7 million of our total 2006
acquisition costs to acquired real estate leases and $9.5 million to acquired real estate lease obligations.
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During 2006 we also-sold five office properties for riet proceeds of $10.6 million and recognized gains of $2.9 m1lhon Net proceeds l‘rum these
sales were used to reduce amounts outstanding on our revolving credit facility.

As of December 31, 2006, we had an outstanding agreement to purchase three properties containing 104,000 square feet of “space for $8 6 :mllmn
plus closing costs. These properties were acquired in February 2007. St

Our real estate properties are generally leased on gross lease, modified gross lease or triple net lease bases pursuant to non-cancelable, fixed term
operating leases expiring between 2007 to 2051. The triple net leases generally require the lessec to pay all property operating costs. Qur gross leases
and modified gross leases require us to pay all or some property operating expenses and to provide all or most property management services.
We committed $82.1 million for expenditures related to 6.0 million square feet of leases executed during 2006. Committed but unspent tenam related
obligations based on executed leases as of December 31, 2006, were $60.0 million. >

The future minimum lease payments schcdulcd to be received by us during the current terms of our leases as of December 31, 2006, are approximately
$648.7 million in 2007, $597.2 million in 2008, $543.4 million in 2009, $491.1 million in 201¢, $401.1 million in 2011 and $1.9 billion thereafter.

NOTE 4. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, we had the following equity investments {(dollars in thousands):

Ownership Percentage- " _Equity in Earnings Equity Investments
! December 31, Year Ended December 31, December 31,
2006 2005 - 2006 2005 - 2006 2005
: g
Senior Housing —% 10.7%- ‘$ 1,512 $ 7,291 $ .- $ 94,952
Hospitality Properties . - 5.6 1624 7,061 - 99,345
$ 3,136 $ 14,352 3 - $ 194,297

In March 2006, we sold all 7,710,738 Senior Housing common shares we owned in an underwritten public offering for $17.60 per common share
for gross proceeds of $135.7 million (net $133.1 million) and we realized a gain of $39.1 million. Senior Housing is a real estate investment trust
that invests principally in senior housing real estate and was a 100% owned subsidiary of ours until 1999.

In December 2005, Senior Housing issued 3,250,000 common shares in a public offering for $18.90 per common share for net proceeds of $58.2
million, and we recognized 2 gain of $1.5 million pursuant to the income statement method of accounting, Simultaneously with this offering, we
sold 950,000 of our Senior Housing common shares for $18.90 per common share for gross proceeds of $18.0 million {net $17.0'million) and we
recognized a gain of $5.5 million. Our ownership percentage in Senior Housing was reduced from 12.6% prior to these transactions to 10.7% after
these transactions. ' ‘

In January 2004, Senior Housing issued 5,000,000 common shares in a public offering for $18.20 per common share for net proceeds of $86.1 million,
and- we recognized a gain of $966,000 pursuant to the income statement method of accounting. Simultaneously with this offering, we sold
3,148,500 of our Senior Housing common shares for $18.20 per common share for gross proceeds of $57.3 million (net $54.4 million) and we
recognized a gain of $14.8 million. In December 2004, Senior Housing issued another 5,000,000 common shares in a public offering for $19.86
per common share for net proceeds of $94.1 million, and we recognized a gain of $3.4 million pursuant to the income statement method of accounting,
Simultaneously with this offering, we sold 1,000, 000 of our Senior Housing common shares for $19.86 per common share for gross proceeds of
$19.9 million (net $18.9 millicn) and we recognized a gain of $6.7 million. Our ownership percentage in Senior Housing was reduced from 21.9%
prior to these transactions to 12.6% after these transactions.

' . .
1 . ' . .
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Summarized financial data of Senior Housing is as follows {amounts in thousands, except per share data):

December 31,
2005

Real estate properties, net ’ $ 1,447,138
Cash and cash equivalents 14,642
Other assets 38,861
Total assets . $ 1,500,641
Unsecured revolving bank credit facility $ 64,000
Senior unsecured notes due 2012

and 2015, net of discount 393,938
Other liabilities 119,519
Shareholders’ equity 923,184
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,500,641

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 |

Revenues $ 163,187 $ 148523
Expenses 105,206 93,000
Income from continuing operations . 57,981 55,523
Gain on sale of properties 5,931 1.21'9
Net income 3 63,912 56,742
Weighted average shares outstanding 68,757 63,406
Basic and diluted eamings per share:

Income from continuing operations 3 0.84 3 0.88

Gain on sale of properties $ 0.09 3 0.01

Net income $ 0.93 3 0.89

In March 2006, we sold all 4,000,000 Hospitality Properties common shares we owned in an underwrittlen public offering for $44.75 per common
share for gross proceeds of $179.0 million (net $175.3 million) and we realized a gain of $77.2 million. Hospitality Properties is a real estate investment
trust that owns hotels and was a 100% owned subsidiary of ours until 1995.

In 2005, Hospitality Properties issued 4,700,000 common shares in a public offering for $44.39 per common share, raising net proceeds of $199.2
mitlion. Our ewnership percentage in Hospitality Properties was reduced from 6.0% prior to this transaction to 5.6% after this transaction, and we
recognized a gain of $4.7 million pursuant to the income statement method of accounting.

In 2004, Hospitality Properties issued 4,600,000 common shares in a public offering for $43.93 per common share for net proceeds of $192.7 million.
Our ownership percentage in Hospitality Properties was reduced from 6.4% prior to this transaction to 6.0% after this transaction, and we recognized
a gain of $4.1 million pursuant to the income statement method .of accounting.




30

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summarized financial data of Hospitality Properties is as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share data):

December 31,

2005

Real estate properties, net $ 3,013,686
Cash and cash equivalents 18,568
Other assets 82,353

33114607
Revolving credit facility $ 35,000
Senior notes, net of discounts ) 921,606
Security deposits . 185,304
Other liabilities 117,242
Shareholders’ equity 1,855,455

ERENIEY:A

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004

Revenues $ 834412 $ 645,368
Expenses 704,509 518,480
Income before gain on sale of real estate 129,903 126,888
Gain on sale of real estate — 203
Net income 129,903 127,091
Preferred distributions (7,656) (9,674)
Excess of liquidation preference over

carrying value of preferred shares — [2,793)
Net income available for common shareholders b 122,247 $ 114,624
Weighted average common shares outstanding 69,866 66,503
Basic and diluted eamings per common share:

Net income available for common shareholders S - 1.75 $ © 172

NOTE 5. SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY

We have common shares available for issuance under the terms of our 2003 Incentive Share Award Plan, or the Award Plan. During the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, 66,050 common shares with an aggregate market value of $798,000, 39,600 common shares with an aggregate
market value of $512,000 and 38,100 common shares with an aggregate market value of $409,000, respectively, were awarded to our officers and
certain employees of RMR pursuant to this plan. All of our trustees were each awarded 2,250 common shares in 2006 with an aggregate market
value of $122,000, as part of their annual fees, Qur independent trustees were each awarded 1,500 common shares in 2005 with an aggregate market
value of $53,000 and 1,500 common shares in 2004 with an aggregaie market value of $40,000, as part of their annual fees. The shares awarded
to our trustees vested immediately. The shares awarded to our officers and certain employees of RMR vest in three or five annual installments
beginning on the date of grant. We include the value of awarded common shares in general and administrative expenses at the time the awards
vest. At December 31, 2006, 6,261,978 of our common shares remain available for issuance under the Award Plan.

Cash distributions per common share paid by us in 2006, 2005 and 2004, were $0.84, $0.84 and $0.82 per year, respectively. The characterization
of our distributions paid in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was 63.5%, 63.2% and 66.5% ordinary income, respectively, 0.0%, 32.7% and 32.9% return of
capital, respectively, and 36.5%, 4.19% and 0.6% capital gain, respectively. In December 2006, we declared a distribution of $0.21 per common share
which was paid on January 31, 2007, to shareholders of record on December 29, 2006. Our credit facility agreement contains a number of financial
and other covenants, including a covenant which limits, with certain exceptions, the amount of aggregate distributions on common shares to 90%
of operating cash flow available for shareholder distributions as defined in the agreement.

Our 8,000,000 series A cumulative redeemable preferred shares required dividends of $2.46875, 9 " per annum per share, payable in equal quarterly
payments and had a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share. Our series A preferred shares were redeemed for $25.00 each plus accrued and
unpaid dividends in March 2006. Our 12,000,000 series B cumulative redeemable preferred shares carry dividends of $2.1875, 8 *1% per annum,
payable in equal quarterly payments, Each series B preferred share has a liquidation preference of $25.00 and is redeemable, at our aption, for
$25.00 each plus accrued and unpaid dividends at any time on or after September 12, 2007.
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In February 2006, we issued 6,000,000 series C cumulative redeemable preferred shares in a public Df'fenng raising net proceeds of $145.0 million.
Each series C preferred share requires dividends of $1.78125, 7 'a% per annum, payable in equal qua 1er!y payments. Each series C preferred share
has a liquidation preference of $25.00 and is redeemable, at our option, for $25.00 each plus accrued land unpaid dividends at any time on or after
February 15, 2011.

In October 2006, we issued an aggregate of 15,180,000 series D cumulative convertible preferred shares, including 1,980,000 shares issued to cover
over-allotments, in a public offering raising net proceeds of $368.3 million. Net proceeds from this offenng were used to reduce amounts outstanding
on our revolving credit facility and for general business purposes, including acquisitions. Each series D prefen'ed share has a liquidation preference of
$25.00 and requires dividends of $1.625, 6 1:% per annum, payable in equal quarterly payments. Our series D preferred shares are convertible,
at the holder's option, into our common shares at an initial conversion rate of 1.9231 common shares per series D preferred share, which is equivalent
to an initial conversion price of $13.00 per common share, or 29,192,308 additiona! common shares at December 31, 2006. On or after November
20, 2011, if our common shares trade at or above the then applicable conversion price, we may, at our option, convert some or all of the series D
preferred shares into common shares at the then applicable conversion rate. If a faundamental change occurs, which generally will be deemed-to
occur upon a change in control or a termination of trading, holders of our series D preferred shares will have a special right to convert their series
D preferred shares into 3 number of our common shares per $25.00 liquidation preference, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, divided by $8%
of the market price, as defined, of our common shares, unless we exercise our right to repurchase these series D preferred shares for cash, at a purchase
price equal to 100% of their liquidation preference, plus accrued and unpaid distributions.

In December 2006, we entered into a sales agreement with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. {“Cantor”) which allows us to initially ‘offer and sell up to
20,000,000 of our commeon shares from time to time in a controlled equity offering program. Pursuam| to this agreement, Cantor has agreed to use
commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices to sell our common shares that we specify from time to time;
we have no obligation to specify any of our common shares for sale in this program; and we may at any time suspend sales or terminate the program.
No common shares were issued under this program in 2006, :

We have adopted a Sharcholders Rights Plan pursuant to which a right to purchase securities is distributable to shareholders in certain circumstances.
Each right entitles the holder to purchase or to receive securities or other assets of ours upon the occurrence of certain events. The rights expire
on October 17, 2014, and are redeemable at our option. :

NOTE 6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

We have agreements with RMR to originate and present investment opportunities to us and to prowde property management and administrative
services to us. These agreements are subject to the annual review and approval of our independent trustees RMR is beneficially owned by Barry
M. Portnoy and Adam D Portnoy, who are our managing trustees. RMR is compensated at an annual rate equal to 0.7% of our real estate investments up
to $250 million and 0.5% of investments thereafter, plus property management fees equal to 3.0% ofigross rents and construction management
fees equal to 5.0% of certain construction costs. RMR is also entitled to an incentive fee which is paid in restricted shares of our common stock
based on a formula. Incentive fees earned for the year ended December 31, 2005, were approximately 51 .2 million. No incentive fees were earned
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2004. RMR also is reimbursed a pro-rata amount of its costs of providing internal audit services to us
and to other companies managed by RMR. At December 31, 2006, RMR and its affiliates owned 1,469, 291 of our common shares. RMR also leases
approximately 23,000 square feet of office space from us at rental rates which we beiieve to be commermally reasonable. All transactions between
us and RMR are approved by independent trustees who are not affiliated with RMR. -

Amounts resulting from transactions with affiliates are as follows {dollars in thousands): '

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 |. . 2004
Investment and administration related fees, incentive fees ‘
and internal audit costs paid.to RMR $ 29,487 $ 26973} $ 22,534
Distributions paid to beneficial owners of RMR and - : . . '
their affiliates 1,208 1,132 1,102
Rental income received from RMR : 484 . 495 ‘401
Management fees paid to RMR 25,036 . 22,481 : 18,337
Dividends received from Hospitality Properties 2,920 11,560 11,520
Dividends received from Senior Housing 2,467 11,086 13,052
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NOTE 7. INDEBTEDNESS

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, our outstanding indehtedness included the following (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2005

Unsecured revolving credit facility, due August 2010,-
at LIBOR plus a premium $ - 40,000 $ 256,000

Unsecured floating rate senior notes, due March 2011,
at LIBOR plus a premium 400,000 -
Term Loan, due August 2009, at LIBOR plus a premium - 350,000
Senior Notes, due 2010 at 8.875% . ' 30,000 30,000
Senior Notes, due 2010 at 8.625% ‘ 20,000 20,000
Senior Notes, due 2012 at 6.95% 200,000 200,000
Senior Notes, due 2013 at 6.50% O 200,000 200,000
Senior Notes, due 2014 at 5.75% . . 250,000 250,000
Senior Notes, due 2015 at 6.40% . 200,000 200,000
Senior Notes, due 2015 at 5.75% 250,000 250,000
Senior Notes, due 2016 at 6.25% . 400,000 400,000
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2008 at 7. 02% . 16,056 16,328
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2008 at-8.00% ! - 3,566 - 5114
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2009 at 5.17% 3,189 4,603
Meortgage Notes Payable, due 2011 at 6.814% 242,479 245,965
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2012 at 8.05% 25,170 25,489
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2012 at 6.0% . 5,349 : 5,468
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2014 at 4.95% i : 13,949 -
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2016 at 7.36% 13,634 -
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2022 at 7.31% 4,504 -
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2022 at 7.85% 2,190 -
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2022 at 6.75% 5,205 -
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2026 at 5.71% . 9,599 -
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2028 at 8.50% : 29,016 . 29,399
Mortgage Notes Payable, due 2029 at 6.794% 41,969 - 42,713

N ' 2,405,875 2,531,079 !

Less unamortized net premiums and discounts e . 8,644 . 10,923
: -§ 2,397,231 $ 2,520,156

In 2006, we issued $400 million of unsecured floating rate senior notes in a public offering, raising net proceeds of $398.7 million. The notes bear
interest at LIBOR plus a premium, require quarterly interest payments and mature in March 2011. Net proceeds from this offering were used to
reduce amounts outstanding under our revolving credit facility and for general business purposes, We also repaid our $350 million term loan that
was scheduled to mature in August 2009. We recognized a loss of $1.7 million from the write off of deferred financing fees in connection with
this repayment. o

We have an unsecured revolving credit facility w1th a borrowing capacity of $750 million that we use for acquisitions, working capital and general
business purposes. In August 2006, we amended and extended the maturity of this credit facility from April 2009 to August 2010, with an option
to extend the facility an additional year. Interest pald on drawings under this facility was reduced from LIBOR plus 65 basis points to LIBOR plus
55 basis points. Certain covenants were also amended to reflect current market conditions. The interest rate on this facility averaged 5.6% and 4.0%
per annum for the years ended December 21, 2006 and 2005, respectively. '

Our public debt indentures and credit facility agréement contain a number of financial and other covenants, including a credit facility covenant
which limits the amount of aggregate distributions on common shares to 90% of operating cash flow available for shareholder distributions as
defined in the credit facility agreement. :

As part of our 2006 acquisitions, we assumed $49.5 million of secured debt which was recorded at its fair value of $50.7 million. The related
premium on this debt is being amortized to interest expense through its maturity date.

At December 31, 2006, 50 properties costing $872.2 millien with an aggregate net book value of $733.4 million were secured by mortgage notes
totaling $415.9 million maturing from 2008 through 2029 which, including unamortized premiums and discounts, amounted to $416.1 million.
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The required principal payments due during the next five years and thereafter under all our outstandmg debt at December 31, 2006, are $10.2 million
in 2007, $26.4 million in 2008, $7.9 million in 2009, $98.3 million in 2010, $629.9 million in 2011 and $1.6 bllllon lhereaﬁer

NOTE 8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS : '
Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, rents receivable, equity investments, senior notes, mortgage notes payable, accounts

payable and other accrued expenses and security deposits, At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the fair values of our financial instruments were not
materially different from their carrying values, except as follows {dollars in thousands): '

2006 2005
Camrying . Canrying
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Equity investments 3 - 3 - § 194297 § 290,789

Senior notes and mortgage notes payable 1,957,231 2,024,211 1,914,156 1,997,924

The fair values of our senior notes and mortgage notes payable are based on estimates using discounlted cash flow analyses and current interest
rates ranging from 5.5% to 5.9%. The fair value of our equity investments are based on quoted per share prices for Hospitality Properties and Senior
Housing of $40.10 and $16.91, respectively, at December 31, 2005.

NOTE 9. EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Eamnings per common share, or EPS, is computed pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 128. The followmg table provides a reconciliation of both
net income and the number of common shares used in the computations of basic and diluted EPS {amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 i 2004
. Per Per Per
\ Income Shares Share Income Shares Share Income Shares .  Share

Income from continuing

operations $ 247,756 $ 156,716 $ 160,917
(Loss) income from - : .

discontinued operations (93) . . 676 ' 1,912
Gain on sale of properties 2,917 7,592 -
Preferred distributions (44,692) . {46,000) . {46,000)
Excess redemption price

paid over carrying . .

value of preferred shares (6,914) - -
Amounts used to calculate | - ;

basic EPS 198,974 209,965 $ 0,95 118,984 197,831 % 0.60 116,829 176,157 $ 0.66
Effect of dilutive securities:

Convertible preferred

shares 5,482 6,559 - - - -

Amounts used to calculate | ’

diluted EPS ‘ $ 204,456 216524 $ 054 $ 118984 197,831 $ 060 $ 116,829 176,157  $ 0.66

NOTE 10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our primary business is the ownership and operation of office and industrial properties, including leased|industrial lands in.Qahu, HI. We account
for our office and industrial properties in geographic operating segments for financial reporting purposes bascd on our, method of internal reporting.
We define these individual geographic segments as those which currently, or during either of the last two quarters, represent or generate 5% or
more of our total square feet, revenues or property net operating income. Our geographic segments include Metro Philadelphia, PA, Metro
Washington DC, Oahu, HI, Metro Boston, MA, Southem California, Metro Austin, TX and Other Markets, which mcludes properties located throughout
the United States.

The following items are accounted for on a corporate level and are not allocated among our segments: deprecmnon and amortization expense, general
and administrative expense, interest income and expense, loss on early extinguishment of debt, and equity in earnings and gains from ownership
of common shares of Senior Housing and Hospitality Properties. The accounting policies of our segmems are the same as the accounting policies
described in our summary of significant accounting policies.
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As of December 31, 2006, we owned 351 office properties and 153 industrial pmpemes Pruperty level information by geographlc segment and
property type is as follows-(amounts in thousands) . .

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2006: . .
' As of December 31, 2006

. | _ Office Industrial .
' . t . ) Properties Properties Totals
Property square feet: ) C . . ]

Metro Philadelphia, PA 5,453 - 5,453
Metro Washington DC : . 2,658 - 2,658
Qahu, HI " . - 17,880 17,880
Metro Boston, MA . ‘ ' 2,740 - 2,740
Southern California ‘ ' 1,444 - 1,444
Metro Austin, TX . . . 1,491 1,316 - 2,807
(ther Markets 20,492 6,391 26,883

Totals 34,278 25,587 59,865
Central business district, or CBD . 1],332 158 - 11,490
Suburban 22,946 ” 25,429 48,375

Totals 34,278 25,587 59,865

Year Ended December 31, 2006

.o c o B oL - . Office Industrial
- N ' ‘ Properties . Properties Totals -
Property rental income: ’
Metro Philadelphia, PA . o . $ 127,051 3 - $ 127,051
Metro Washington DC | . ) 80,154 - 80,154
Oahu, HI - 61,012 61,012
Metro Boston, MA : . " 60,568 L= 60,568
Southern California . : 48,282 - 48,282
Metro Austin, TX oL 29,623 14,576 " 44,199 '
Other Markets : ' 332,954 41,601 374,555
Totals ) . . , $ 678,632 $ 117,189 $ 795821
CBD . $ 285,605 $ 1,141 $ 286,746
Suburban ’ 393,027 116,048 509,075
Totals : 3 678,632 $ 117,189 $ .. 795,821
Property net operating income: . ] :
Metro Philadelphia, PA ' § 68025 % - $ 68,025
Metro Washington DC ) 50,244 - 50,244
Oahu, HI - 49,414 49,414
Metro Boston, MA : 39,578 - 39.578:
Southern California . ' ’ 33,603 - 33,603
Metro Austin, TX , . ‘ . . 13417 8124 21,541
Other Markets B 194,540 28,164 222,704
Totals . 3 399 407 $ 85,702 $ 485,109
CBD R ) 3 158,936 $ 858 $ 159,795
Suburban ' . ; o . .. 240,471 . 84,843 325,314
Totals , ; - 3 399,407 $ 85702 § 485109

As of December 31, 2006, our investments in office and industrial properties, net of accumulated depreciation, were $4,067,022 and
$1,026,791, respectively.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2005:

As of December 31, 2005

Office Industrial
Properties Froperties Totals
Property square feet:
Metro Philadelphia, PA 5,447 - 5,447
Metro Washington DC 2,645 .- 2,645
Qahu, HI - 17,879 17,879
Metro Boston, MA 2,737 - 2,737
Southern California 1,444 - 1,444
Metro Austin, TX 1,490 1,316 2,806
Other Markets 17,402 4,573 21,975
Totals 31,165 i 23,768 54,933
CBD 11,327 l 158 11,485
Suburban 19,838 23,610 43,448
Totals 31,165 i 23,768 54,933
- Year Ended December 31, 2005
Office Industrial
Properties Properties Totals
Property rental income: .
Metro Philadelphia, PA $ 133390 $ - $ 133,390
Metro Washington DC 77,751 - 77,751
Qahu, HI - 51,343 51,343
Metro Boston, MA 57,932 - 57,932
Southern California 47,553 - 47,553
Metro Austin, TX 23,798 15,970 39,768
Other Markets s 263,340 37,764 301,104
Totals $ 603,764 {$ 105,077 $ 708,841
CBD $ 280,184 $ 1,089 $ 281,273
Suburban 323,580 103,988 427,568
" Totals . $ 603,764 13 105,077 $ 708,841
Property net operating income:
Metro Philadelphia, PA 3 72,909 ' - $  .72,908
Metro Washington DC 50,316 - 50,316
Oahu, HI! - 41,561 41,561
Metro Boston, MA 38,898 - 38,898
Southern California 32,374 - 32,374 .
Metro Austin, TX 10,316 7,834 18,150
Other Markets 160,054 25,016 185,070
' Totals $ 364,867 $ 74,411 $ 439278
CBD $ 155,104 lS 861 $ 159,965 | .
Suburban . 205,763 1 73550 279,313
Totals s 364,867 $ 74,411 $ 439,278

As of December 31, 2005, our investments in office and industrial properties, net of accumulated depreciation, were $3,772,663 and

$903,451, respectively.
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As of and for the year ended December 31, 2004:

Property square feet:

Metro Philadelphia, PA
Metro Washington DC -
Oahu, HI "
Metro Boston, MA
Southem California
Metro Austin, TX
Other Markets

Totals

CBD °~ ..

Suburban -,
Totals .

Property rental income:

Propérty net operating income:

Metro Philadelphia, PA
Metro Washington DC
Oahu, HI
Metro Boston, MA
Southern California
Metro Austin, TX
Other Markets

Totals

CBD
Suburban
Totals

Metro Philadelphia, PA
Metro Washington DC
Oahu, HI -
Metro Boston, MA
Southern California
Metro Austin, TX
Other Markets

Totals

CBD

. Suburban

Totals

.

-

As of December 31, 2004

_ Office Industrial
Properties Properties Totals
5,452 — 5,452
2,645 - 2,645
- 9,699 9,659
2,742 - - 2,742
1,444 - 1,444
1,493 1,316 2,809
14,452 4,573 19,025
28,228 15,588 43,816
10,698 158 10,856
17,530 15,430 32,960
28,228 15,588 43,816
Year Ended December 31, 2004
Office Industrial
Properties Properties Totals
$ 131,469 $ - 131,469
66,234 - 66,234 -
- 42,205 42,205
52,157 - 52,157
_ 42,622 - 42,622
. 21,577 16,740 38,317
203,648 22,983 226,631
$ 517,707 $ 81,928 599,635
$ 267,334 $ 1,070 268,404
250,373 80,858 331,231
3 517,707 $ 81,928 599,635
$ 71,676 $ - ,71,676
42,752 - 42,752
- 34,582 34,582
37,724 - 37,724
27,823 - 27,823
10,011 8,162 18,173
124,315 15,783 140,098
$ 314,301 $ 58527 372,828
$ 155,508 $ 873 156,381
158,793 57,654 216,447
$ 58,527 372,828

314,301




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS : - RS

NOTE 11. CALCULATION OF PROPERTY NET OPERATING INCOME I

The following table reconciles our calculation of property net operating income, or NGO, to net income available for common shareholders, the most
direcily comparable financial measure under generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, rcported in our consolidated financial statements.

We consider NOI to be appropriate supplemental information to net income available for common sharehnlders because it helps both investors and
management to understand the operations of our properties. We use NOI intemally as a performance mea.'ru.re and believe NOI pmvu:lm useful information
to investors regarding our results of operations because it reflects only those income and expense ltcms that are incurred at the property level.

Our management also uses NOI to evaluate individual, regional and company wide property level perfonnance NOI excludes certain components
from net income available for common shareholders in order to provide results that are more closely relatcd to our properties’ results of operations.
NOI does not represent cash generated by operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered an alternative to net income,
net income available fer common sharcholders or cash flow from operating activities as a measure of financial performance. A reconciliation of
NOI to net income avaitable for common shareholders for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, is as follows (dollars in thousands]):

Year Ended December 31,

. . 2006 1 2005 2004

Rental income ' . $ 795821 ‘ $ 708,841 $ 599,635
Operating expenses . - . . . (310,712) (269,563) {226,807)

Property net operating income (NOH ) . . %3 485,109 | $ 435,278 $ - 372,828
Property net operating income ' $ 485,109 $ 439,278 $ 372828
Depreciation and amortization {159,826) {135,890) (111,744)
General and administrative (32,133) [30,446) (25,170)

Operating income : 293,150 272,942 235914
Interest income 2,736 1,490 638
Interest expense (165,894) (143,663) {118,212)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt C ‘ . (1,659) (168) ] (2,866).
Equity in eammings of equity investments 3,136 14,352 - 15457
Gain on sale of equity investments 116,287 5522 21,550
Gain on issuance of shares by equity investees . — 6,241 8,436
Income from continuing operations 247,756 156,716 160,917
{Loss) income from discontinued operations ) {93) 676 1,912
Gain on sale of properties . o . 2,917 7,592 —
Net income =~ . . . X 250,580 164,984 162,829
Preferred distributions (44,692) (46,000) {46,000)
Excess redemption price paid over carrying ’

value of preferred shares - (6,914) - ) ) —
Net income available for common shareholders $ 198,974 1$ 118,984 - % 116,829

NOTE 12. TENANT CONCENTRATION

The United States Government is our only tenant which is responsible for more than five percent of our revenues. For the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, revenues from the United States Government were $109.8 million, $1|0 0 million and $96.7 million, respectively.
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NOTE 13. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) . i

The following is a summary of our unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2006 and 2005. Reclassifications have been made to the prior year
results to reflect properties reported in discontinued operations during 2006 {dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

- 2006
First i Second Third - Fourth
Quarter -+ Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenues ’ : $ 189,559 $ 197957 $ 202,542 § 205763
Net income available for common shareholders 131,413 22,280 22,120 23,16t
Per common share data: * g ‘
Net income available for common shareholders - ba51c
and diluted 0.63 0.11 0.1 0.11
2005
First Second Third Fourth
' ! Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Total revenues : ! ' % 166554 §$ 173814 $ 182894 $ 185579
Net income available for common shaneholders 20,735 39,246 26,797 32,206
Per common share data: T
Net income available for common shareholders - basu:

and diluted . 0.12 0.20 0.13 0.15

NOTE 14.'SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January and February 2007, we sold 1,005,000 of our common shares for net proceeds of $13.0 million pursuant to our controlled equity offering
program dlscussed in Note 5.

v

In Febrary 2007, we acquired three properties containing 104, 000 square feet of space for $8.6 m1ll|on plus closing costs.

In January and February 2007, we agreed to acquire'17 properties for $220.0 million plus closing costs. These acquisitions are subject to various
closing conditions customary in real estate transactions and there is no assurance as to when or if these properties will be acquired.
|
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